

A Service of

ZBW

Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Horstmann, Britta

### Working Paper Framing adaptation to climate change: a challenge for building institutions

Discussion Paper, No. 23/2008

**Provided in Cooperation with:** German Institute of Development and Sustainability (IDOS), Bonn

*Suggested Citation:* Horstmann, Britta (2008) : Framing adaptation to climate change: a challenge for building institutions, Discussion Paper, No. 23/2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-414-8, Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE), Bonn

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/199308

#### Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



## WWW.ECONSTOR.EU



Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik



German Development Institute

# Framing adaptation to climate change – a challenge for building institutions

Britta Horstmann

Bonn 2008

Discussion Paper / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik ISSN 1860-0441

**Horstmann, Britta:** Framing adaptation to climate change : a challenge for building institutions / Britta Horstmann. – Bonn : DIE, 2008. – (Discussion Paper / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik ; 23/2008) ISBN 978-3-88985-414-8

**Britta Horstmann:** Britta Horstmann is a research fellow at the German Development Institute / Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik (DIE). Her research areas cover institutional and governance aspects of adaptation to climate change and linkages between climate change and development policy.

© Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik gGmbH Tulpenfeld 6, 53113 Bonn <sup>™</sup> +49 (0)228 94927-0 <sup>■</sup> +49 (0)228 94927-130 E-Mail: die@die-gdi.de www.die-gdi.de

#### Contents

#### Abbreviations

Summ	nary	1
1	Introduction	3
2	Framing discourses and institutions	4
3	Concepts of adaptation in the UNFCCC	7
3.1	Negotiating adaptation	8
3.1.1	Adaptation versus mitigation	8
3.1.2	Adaptation framed by climate change definitions	10
3.1.3	Adaptation as compensation	12
3.2	Funding adaptation	14
3.2.1	Guiding GEF Trust Fund activities and eligibility criteria	15
3.2.2	Guidance on the Least Developed Countries Fund and Special Climate	17
3.2.3	The Adaptation Fund under the Kyoto Protocol	17
4	Adaptation in the scientific discourse	20
4.1	The evolution of conceptual thinking in adaptation research	20
4.2	Characteristics of adaptation	24
4.3	Conceptualizing adaptation for cost calculation	26
5	Addressing adaptation in development policy and practice	27
5.1	Framing adaptation for action	29
5.2	Differentiating development and adaptation	32
6	Institutional challenges in targeting adaptation	33
7	Conclusions	36
Biblio	graphy	39

#### Tables

Table 1:	Funding adaptation under the UNFCCC	19
Table 2:	Common attributes and characteristics of adaptation	26
Table 3:	Evolution of references to adaptation or mitigation in selected PRSPs	28
Table 4:	Entry points for adaptation and examples	32
Figures		
Figure 1:	Adaptation to climate change and variability	24
Figure 2:	Characterization of entry points of adaptation projects (referred to here as "cases")	30
Figure 3:	The strategic interface between areas of development cooperation and adaptation	31
Figure 4:	Core characteristics of adaptation	34
Figure 5:	Institutional frame for adaptation to climate change	35
Boxes		

Box 1:	"Additional costs" of adaptation funded by the LDCF	18
Box 2:	Adaptation as a "wicked problem"	33

### Abbreviations

ADAPT	Assessment and Design for Adaptation to Climate Change
AOSIS	Alliance of Small Island States
CER	Certified emission reductions
CDM	Clean Development Mechanism
COP	Conference of the Parties
CRISTAL	Community Risk Screening tool – Adaptation and Livelihoods
CRM	Climate risk management
GEF	Global Environment Facility
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
LDCF	Least Developed Countries Fund
LEG	Least developed country expert group
NAPA	National Adaptation Programmes of Action
ODA	Official development assistance
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
OPEC	Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries
PRSP	Poverty Reduction Strategy Paper
SBSTA	Subsidiary Body on Scientific and Technological Advice
SCCF	Special Climate Change Fund
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change

#### Summary

Adaptation to climate change has long been neglected in climate and development policy and there is an institutional deficit in addressing adaptation action. The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) has yet to develop coherent institutional structures that facilitate the effective implementation of adaptation and related commitments in a way that is at once catalytic and synergetic at the global level. The question of how to respond adequately to the requirements of adaptation to climate change is still an open one and a matter of controversy in discussions, also with regard to a follow-up agreement for the Kyoto Protocol.

One of the related challenges, in UNFCCC negotiations but also in development policy and practice, is the definition of a conceptual basis for adaptation from which to derive action. The question of how adaptation is conceptualized is crucial for leveraging action and addressing adaptation across different scales, from the global to the local level. This applies not only for the United Nations Framework Convention but also for institution building in a wider sense. It forms the basis for adaptation strategies, implementation, the calculation of adaptation costs and financial needs or translates into eligibility criteria for funding. Especially, the funding mechanisms of the climate convention, the connecting link between the global and the national or local level, assume an important position here. Their institutional arrangement and conceptual basis can influence action on adaptation on a broad scale.

While the concept and problem definition of mitigation is relatively clearly framed with regard to cause and effect, the conceptual frame of adaptation remains vague and has changed over time. Adaptation was initially conceptualized from an environmental and climate change perspective focusing on impacts of climate change. It is now increasingly seen from a development perspective emphasizing development needs and aspects of vulnerability to current climate variability. Each perspective emphasizes a different type of policy response. Three fora are relevant for the evolution of conceptual thinking on adaptation to climate change: the UNFCCC, scientific discourse and development policy and practice. Adaptation has been framed differently in each of these. Nevertheless, there are core characteristics of adaptation that emerge from these discourses. They are represented by the following questions:

- Adaptation to what? (climate-related stimuli)
- Who or what adapts? (characteristics of system)
- How does adaptation occur? (attributes, forms, types of adaptation)
- On what time scale and on what spatial scale is adaptation being addressed? (time/space scale)
- Who defines adaptation how and why? (power, processes, decision criteria, information)
- How to address uncertainty and responsibility in adaptation?

The last three aspects of adaptation have until now not received sufficient attention in defining adaptation options, and they are challenging for institution building:

- The definition of time scales of adaptation needs careful balancing between short- and

long-term requirements, development needs and climatic trends. To what time scale of climatic trends should adaptation measures respond and within what time frame can they be considered as climate change adaptation measures?

- The question of "who defines, how and why?" is an important parameter in targeting adaptation as there is no concept-inherent, pre-given definition of a problem of and hence solution for adaptation. This implies that the challenge for adaptation planning and addressing it in institutions lies in the definition of the problem itself. What are the processes, criteria and information on which a decision is based? As there are no common, "objective" criteria of what "good" or "bad" adaptation to climate change is, the decision criteria for adaptation measures need to be socially embedded.
- Uncertainty is a dominant feature of adaptation in a twofold sense. On the one hand, impacts of climate change are uncertain and there will be no definite information on what needs to be adapted to. On the other hand, there is a degree of uncertainty with regard to the determinants of vulnerability and there is no guarantee that certain measures will lead to reduced vulnerability or enhanced adaptive capacity. Both aspects of uncertainty imply the risk of maladaptation or maladaptedness. What is the best way to address the question of responsibility if adaptation fails?

In view of the core characteristics of adaptation, what are the implications for a future adaptation framework under the UNFCCC? Addressing adaptation relates to a reframing of the effects of climate change that can be addressed under the convention and to whether this includes climate variability. The parties to the convention should reconsider the conceptual frame of adaptation funding and adopt a representative governance structure. The adaptation framework should adopt a process-oriented approach to adaptation that includes climate variability, and it should strengthen the generation of context-specific information and analysis. At present, uncertainty and responsibility are not addressed sufficiently under the convention.

#### 1 Introduction

From the beginning, international negotiations within the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) have focused on mitigation, the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions to prevent dangerous climate change. Since the Third Assessment Report by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) established that anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions have an influence on climate change and that some impacts can no longer be avoided, the academic and political attention devoted to adaptation to climate change has grown (e. g. Pachauri 2004). The publication of the IPCC's Fourth Assessment Report has made the need for adaptation even more apparent, increasing the pressure to address the issue in international climate-change and development policy. While adaptation to climate change is not an alternative to mitigation, it does represent a necessary policy objective which can no longer be ignored. It was long neglected in policy as well as in research (see e. g. Adger 2001, 924). Accordingly, there is an institutional deficit in addressing adaptation action, and the international climate regime has yet to develop coherent institutional structures and detailed rules to ensure an effective implementation of commitments to adaptation (Verheyen 2002, 142).

At the UNFCCC conference in 2007 in Bali, Indonesia, the parties adopted the Bali Action Plan, in which adaptation plays a prominent role. The Bali Action Plan charts the course for the ongoing negotiation process, which is intended to lead to a follow-up agreement for the Kyoto Protocol and which sets the stage for the "full, effective and sustained implementation of the convention through long-term cooperative action, now, up to and beyond 2012" (Decision 1/CP.13, FCCC/CP/2007/6/Add.1). The aim is to reach an agreed outcome and decision at the end of 2009 in Copenhagen, Denmark. Next to mitigation, technology transfer and financing, adaptation is one of the main topics on the agenda of the negotiation process. The parties recognize the need for enhanced action in this field and the important role it plays in tackling the problem of climate change and in coming to an agreement in 2009.

However, the issue of how to address adaptation adequately and how the UNFCCC, as a multilateral agreement, can assume a catalytic role in promoting adaptation action is still controversial in discussions. One of the related difficulties is the conceptual basis of adaptation to be used to derive action and financial transfers. Neither the convention nor the Kyoto Protocol defines adaptation explicitly, and there is more than one view of what adaptation means within the convention text itself. At the same time, the question of how adaptation is framed is crucial for leveraging action and addressing adaptation across different scales, from the global to the local level. This applies not only for the UNFCCC context but also for institution building in a wider sense. The way adaptation is framed forms the basis for implementation, political strategies, the calculation of adaptation costs and financial needs, and it translates, for example, into eligibility criteria for funding. Especially, the funding mechanisms of the climate convention, the connecting link between the global and the national or local level, take on an important position. Their institutional arrangement and conceptual basis can influence action on adaptation on a broad scale.

While the concept and problem definition of mitigation is relatively clearly framed with regard to cause and effect, the conceptual frame of adaptation remains vague. It has changed over time not only in the climate negotiation process but also in science and de-

velopment policy and practice, which have influenced the UNFCCC to a certain extent. Among the main drivers in changing the frame and problem definition of adaptation are scientific progress, risk perception and practical considerations bearing on implementation.

Based on the approach of framing (Chapter 2), the present study investigates how adaptation is conceptualized and how these concepts have evolved in the UNFCCC process and its financial institutions (Chapter 3), the scientific discourse (Chapter 4) and in development policy and practice (Chapter 5). Drawing on these frames of adaptation, the study analyzes core characteristics of adaptation that can be regarded as a kind of "minimum" or "basic" frame irrespective of geographic or political context and scale. Based on these conceptual deliberations, it examines what the implications and challenges are for building institutions (Chapter 6) and suggests elements that the UNFCCC and its funding mechanisms should consider in their adaptation framework (Conclusions).

#### 2 Framing discourses and institutions

Regimes<sup>1</sup> like the UNFCCC and related institutions emerge in response to a need to solve problems. As far as the concrete arrangements of these institutions are concerned, it is important to consider the perspectives of all stakeholders involved with the problem or risk at stake (see e. g. Adams / Thompson 2002 v). However, perceptions of the nature or character of the problem to be solved often diverge among stakeholders (Young 1998, 268; see also Carr / Mpande 1996, 144). Agreement on a shared definition of the problem among the stakeholders involved is therefore a crucial starting point to leverage action. Such a definition can be negotiated within *frames*. Scholars differ in their definition of frame and related processes (framing). It is an important concept in the study of negotiations and can be seen, for example, as a concept for communication, as an interpretative schema and as a way in which negotiators conceive the scope and definition of and the relationship between issues in negotiations. It also serves for deciphering how past experiences influence bargaining (Putnam / Holmer 1992, 129, 150; quoting Bacharach / Lawler 1981 et al.). The rhetorical frame of equity, for example, is prominent in the climate change debate or the assessments presented by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), which have since become the "operational centre" for the development and dissemination of action frames on global climate change (Ogunseitan 2003, 105, 107).

In its broadest sense, framing is a sense-making device used to establish the parameters of a problem and to construct meaning or make sense of a situation (Putnam / Holmer 1992, 128; Gray 1996, 576). In this study, framing refers to the issue development approach rooted in the literature on dispute resolution, argumentation and policy deliberations, as described by Putnam and Holmer (1992, 138–141). An issue corresponds to topics of concern in disputes. Within the UNFCCC, adaptation as a response to climate change is one of the major agenda issues in negotiations. Such an issue is not an objective agenda item but represents the way people define or conceptualize an issue or ascribe meaning to it. It is embedded in a context as well as in a process of framing and reframing which deter-

<sup>1 &</sup>quot;Regimes are social institutions that define practices, assign roles and guide the interaction of occupants of such roles within given issue areas" (Verheyen 2002, 129, citing Young 1994, 3).

mine the importance and relevance of available arguments. Arguments are the bargaining tool used to define significance, stability of the problem as well as workability of solutions to an issue. They aim at furthering strategies for problem solving. Reframing represents more than a shift in the nuance of understanding. It challenges the problem perception of an issue or demonstrates the ineffectiveness of another existing frame. A framework such as that of the convention on climate change can be understood as the outcome of such a framing process, and it forms the basic conceptual structure of an issue.

The importance of framing for building institutions and channelling action is shown, for example, by Ogunseitan (2003). In his study he illustrates the ways in which institutional action frames can influence assessments of vulnerability in Africa and that an effective frame translation from global concerns to local relevance can be constrained by such frames when financial arrangements require an endorsement of problem definitions and methodological approaches.<sup>2</sup> There is a danger of uncritical adjustment of national priorities with a view to gaining international financial support (Ogunseitan 2003, 107–109). With his example he supports the observation of Young and other scholars who highlight the risk of setting up inefficient institutional structures in global environmental governance (Young 1998, 268). At the global level an adequate frame for action is especially important as its institutional arrangements serve to channel action of both their formal members and wider arrays of actors operating across different scales (Young 1998, 284), while frames are devices for defining a problem and possible solutions.

An analogy can be drawn between the Ogunseitan study and the UNFCCC, where adaptation to climate change is of high priority for most developing countries but represents an extra burden on their national budgets, and one caused mainly by industrialized countries. All the more important are, accordingly, the appropriate international framework for supporting action on adaptation in developing countries and the targeted transfer of financial resources in particular. Such a framework should embrace a concept of adaptation that matches the problem definition of all stakeholders involved while at the same time giving special consideration to developing countries' needs. In the convention this is covered by one of the central funding criteria circumscribed by the term "adequate adaptation". At present "adequate adaptation" is an open term whose interpretation depends on the particular country and situation concerned (Verheyen 2002, 138). At the global level there is no definition and conceptual basis of what "adequate adaptation" in fact is.

At the same time, the UNFCCC points to the catalytic and synergetic role of the convention and its financial mechanisms. The parties stress the strategic role of action under the convention and the cost effectiveness needed to ensure global benefits at the lowest possible cost (UNFCCC Article 3.3).<sup>3</sup> They encourage multilateral bodies, the public and pri-

<sup>2</sup> See also Adger et al., who argue that the political prescriptions that flow from global discourses are often inappropriate for local realities (Adger et al. 2001, 683), or Lindseth, who argues that the perception of climate change by local stakeholders is important in the process of planning adaptation (Lindseth 2005, 64), or Bauhr (2000) on the obstacles to creating a globally agreed perception of causes, consequences and measures

<sup>3</sup> See also Decision 11/CP.1: "Consistency should be sought and maintained between activities (including those related to funding) relevant to climate change undertaken outside the framework of the financial mechanism and the policies, programme priorities and eligibility criteria for activities as relevant, established by the Conference of the Parties. Towards this end and in the context of Art. 11.5 of the

vate sectors and civil society to build on synergies among activities and processes, as a means to support adaptation in a coherent and integrated manner (Decision 1/CP.13, FCCC/CP/2007/6/Add.: 1.(c) (v)). The catalytic function of action on adaptation was reiterated in the Bali Action Plan.

This raises the question of what definition and concept of planned adaptation can be considered "adequate" while at the same time fulfilling a catalytic function in problem solving at the global level and giving due consideration to – or at least not conflicting with – the problem definition of adaptation and solutions envisaged in multiple national contexts. Accordingly, what, concretely, does the current frame of adaptation under the convention look like, and is it "adequate" as a response to the challenge of climate change and the needs of developing countries? What concepts of adaptation and problem definitions does it include? How did these concepts evolve in negotiations, in what context and based on what arguments? And how are these reflected in the institutional arrangements and financial mechanisms of the convention that, finally, leverage action at the national or local level?

The question of who defines is an important one in the process of framing and reframing. In the literature on cross-scale dynamics of implementing adaptation (e.g. Adger et al. 2004; Wilbanks 2002; Rotmans / Rothmann 2003), one of the major findings that the definition of which environmental issue is appropriately tackled at what scale and the question how an environmental governance problem is handled within a jurisdiction must be seen as a reflection of the strength of the interest and power of actors who define the problem (Adger / Arnell / Tompkins 2005, 80).<sup>4</sup> With regard to the definition of adaptation to climate change, three broad groups of actors and discourses are relevant: the parties to the UNFCCC, the scientific community, first and foremost as channelled through the IPCC assessment reports, and finally development cooperation and policy. It is within these three for that ongoing processes of framing and reframing take place. In this study, these are seen as processes that mutually influence one another according to a framework based on Mitchel et al. (2003). The framework describes the relationship between policy and science as a circular influence from science to policy making and from the political sphere back towards science and assessment (Siebenhüner 2003, 113).<sup>5</sup> Developing countries are underrepresented in the political negotiation process as well as in the scientific process of the IPCC,<sup>6</sup> and this limits, in a twofold way, their possibilities to influence the problem definition and resulting action frames. The question of power and possibilities to influence these processes, however, will not be at the centre of this study. It is in a way reflected in the different frames of adaptation. In this respect, this study rather analyzes to what extent the current UNFCCC frame of adaptation considers the problem definition of different negotiation groups.

Convention, the secretariat should collect information from multilateral and regional financial institutions on activities undertaken in implementation of Art. 4.1 and Art. 12 of the Convention."

<sup>4</sup> On the social construction of definitions, see also Carr / Mpande (1996, 143 f.).

<sup>5</sup> See also Flyvbjerg, who argues that the "*she who has the power to decide what is legitimate science and fact also holds the planning power* (Lindseth 2005, 66 citing Flybjerg, 1998).

<sup>6</sup> See, for example, the statement by the Subsidiary Body for Scientific and Technological Advice (SBSTA): "It is also acknowledged that most adaptation research is carried out in industrialized countries, and that joint research and development with receiving countries may therefore be useful." (Mace 2006, 68 citing FCCC/SBSTA/2004/2, para. 40)

Among the three groups of actors, it was above all the UNFCCC discourse in which questions of social and economic impacts of climate change and related necessities of adaptation were initially considered and brought to public attention. Being the main global platform for finding solutions on global climate change, the UNFCCC has strongly influenced issue development on adaptation, including research agendas. The scientific community was relatively late in giving more room to questions of adaptation. The issue received virtually no attention in the first two assessment reports by the IPCC. The analysis of different adaptation concepts in this study will therefore start out with the UNFCCC, also so as to better capture the chronological development of the term adaptation. The study subsequently analyses concepts of adaptation in the scientific and development policy discourse. In addressing the question of what can be considered "adequate adaptation", it identifies core characteristics that emerge from the process of framing in the three fora. Such a basic frame of adaptation can be considered to comprise the essential problem definition of various actors irrespective of scale and context, and it can therefore serve as a basic action frame for adaptation-related institution building.

#### **3** Concepts of adaptation in the UNFCCC

The international legal framework on adaptation is poorly developed (Yamin / Depledge 2004, 213). Policy development on adaptation is impaired by a lack of agreement about the meaning, scope and timing of adaptation. Most of the adaptation commitments under the convention are referred to in Article 4 of the convention, and 4.8 and 4.9 are central in addressing adaptation "needs and concerns of developing country parties". Article 4 sets forth specific commitments for all parties, including the formulation, implementation, publishing and update of national and as appropriate regional programmes that facilitate "adequate adaptation to climate change" (Art. 4[1]).

"Adequate adaptation" is an open term. Its interpretation is left to each party, as is the task of determining appropriate adaptation measures. According to Yamin and Depledge, "the commitment in Article 4.1(b) does not mandate the pursuit of any particular adaptation policies by a Party. In that sense, it can be seen as a procedural commitment, albeit one that is highly significant because it leads to establishment of processes charged with the important function of identifying, implementing and assessing adaptation options" (Yamin / Depledge 2004, 218). In this regard, the developed country parties included in Annex II of the convention commit to "provide new and additional financial resources" to developing countries for the implementation of their obligations, taking "into account the need for adequacy and predictability in the flow of funds" (Art. 4[3], 4[4]).<sup>7</sup>

The convention requires all parties to address adaptation in a precautionary and strategic way. It does not allow for autonomous adaptation but obliges the parties to adopt anticipatory and planned adaptation measures (Verheyen 2002, 131). These commitments on adaptation are based on principles laid down in the convention. Next to the principles addressing the specific needs of developing country parties (Art. 3.2) and the precautionary

<sup>7</sup> COP-7 decisions reiterate that funding for developing countries should be "*additional, predictable and adequate*" (Verheyen 2002, 141). For a detailed discussion of commitments on adaptation under the convention, see Verheyen (2002); Mace (2003, 2006 and 2008) or Yamin / Depledge (2004).

principle (Art. 3.3), there are the principles of equity and common but differentiated responsibilities (Art. 3.1). These general principles shape and influence negotiations on how to frame adaptation.

The central link between the procedural commitment on adaptation, which assigns the definition of adaptation to the national level, and the global adaptation frame is the funding mechanisms. Their mandate for financing adaptation action depends on how adaptation is framed in international climate negotiations. The discourse on adaptation to climate change has evolved throughout the negotiation process, and the conceptual understanding of adaptation has developed along with it (Schipper 2006, 86).

#### 3.1 Negotiating adaptation

As stated in the introduction, there is no explicit definition of the term "adaptation" within the UNFCCC or the Kyoto Protocol (Yamin / Depledge 2004, 214; Mace 2006, 55; see Article 1 UNFCCC). This already indicates that adaptation to climate change was not at the centre of interest during negotiations on the UNFCCC.

The convention framework must reconcile divergent interests of states that contribute to different degrees to climate change and are faced with different risks arising from global warming. There are, for example, major differences between oil producing countries that highlight their need to adapt to changing oil consumption (see 3.1.3), least developed countries that prioritise action on adaptation to the impacts of climate change or small island states that fear inundation by rising sea levels and whose adaptation possibilities are necessarily limited in scope. In consequence, there are different concepts of adaptation in the convention. From a broad perspective, the main difference in the conceptual approach to climate change, and the related issue of adaptation, is that developed countries tended to see climate change as an environmental issue whereas developing countries saw it as a development issue, although neither developing nor developed countries' spoke with one voice (Bodansky 1993, 479).<sup>8</sup> This controversy in conceptualizing solutions to climate change dominated the negotiation process and heavily influenced approaches to adaptation, a situation that has persisted until today. Within this broad discussion on mitigation versus adaptation, adaptation was framed by climate change definitions, as response measures and as means of compensation.

#### 3.1.1 Adaptation versus mitigation

In finding solutions on how to respond to climate change, the dichotomy between the two approaches of mitigation, reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and adaptation, has long been the prominent feature in climate policy discourse, noted by negotiators, policy-makers and scholars (Schipper 2006, 82; Schipper 2004, 50; Pielke 1998, 160 ff.).<sup>9</sup> Society's concern about climate change originates in the latter's expected impacts, and politics in

<sup>8</sup> For further literature on perspectives from developing countries during the negotiation process leading to the UNFCCC agreement, see Bodansky (1993, footnote 178).

<sup>9</sup> See also Oppenheimer / Petsonk (2004); Wilbanks et al. (2003); Verheyen (2002); Huq / Grubb (2003).

the 1990s and beyond has focused on climate protection in order to attack the root cause. "*The relationship between adaptation and mitigation is such that, in theory, the more mitigation that takes place, the less adaptation will be required, and vice versa*" (Schipper 2004, 50 citing Huq / Grubb 2003, see also Pielke 1998). Although the UNFCCC refers to mitigation and adaptation as two possible reactions to tackle the problem of climate change, the focus until now has been on reduction of greenhouse gas emissions as the main cause of anthropogenic climate change. Adaptation has, for a number of reasons, received much less attention than mitigation.

On the one hand, there was scientific uncertainty over whether climate change is in fact caused by human activity, and the impacts were considered as uncertain and associated with events taking place in the future.<sup>10</sup> The scientific evidence changed with the publication of the second and following IPCC reports (see IPCC Assessment reports 2–4, and Klein 2003, 33). It was above all industrialized countries that pointed to the scientific uncertainties involved in downscaling and identifying impacts. They pointed to the risk of maladaptation and to difficulties in separating the effects of natural climate variability from anthropogenic climate change to justify postponing action on adaptation (Mace 2003, 4).

On the other hand, tactical considerations and the huge diversity of interests concerned influenced the framework on adaptation. The most important argument was that a focus on adaptation needs to be seen as an obstacle in building support for a mitigation framework. Dealing with adaptation in the negotiations would demonstrate a country's lack of discipline when it came to emission reductions (Burton 1994, 14; Schipper 2006, 84). Furthermore, identifying adaptation options was for some parties tantamount to admitting that climate change was in fact occurring, a view which was not supported by the so-called 'climate sceptics' (Schipper 2006, 84), who questioned the human influence on climate change and thus the need for climate protection. Large developing country parties seemed to fear that substantial commitments on adaptation funding from their developed country partners would entail expectations regarding future commitments that might explain why some parties of the G-77 and China group did not actively seek progress on adaptation in negotiations (Mace 2003, 4).<sup>11</sup> The bloc of G-77 and China were struggling with various, also conflicting, interests and national circumstances that represented an obstacle for the evolution of an adaptation framework (see Chapter 3.1.3). Another obstacle was differences within the group in terms of bargaining power, negotiating skills, technical capacities and institutional and financial support that affected prioritisation of adaptation needs (Mace 2003, 4 f.). The weak framework on adaptation is also due to a weakness of the concept of adaptation that can be associated with passiveness, resignation and acceptance and stood in contrast to the strength of the word limitation, which was seen as active, combating and controlling (Burton 1994, 14).

<sup>10</sup> See also the preamble of the Convention, which notes that "there are many uncertainties in predictions of climate change, particularly with regard to the timing, magnitude and regional patterns thereof." (UNFCCC)

<sup>11</sup> The G-77 and China is an intergovernmental group and was formed in the early 1960s in preparation for the 1964 U.N. Conference on Trade and Development. It originally had 77 member states; this number has meanwhile risen to 132. China is neither an associate nor a full member, but texts are typically introduced on its behalf as well (Bodansky 1993, 479, quoting Burns 1990; Yamin / Depledge 2004, 34 f.).

All in all, in the discussion overt the best response strategy to climate change, reduction of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions, was and still is central in the UNFCC. Climate protection remains the ultimate goal of the UNFCCC and the Kyoto Protocol, as stated in Article 2 of the convention:

"The ultimate objective of this convention and any related legal instruments that the Conference of the Parties may adopt is to achieve, in accordance with the relevant provisions of the Convention, stabilization of greenhouse gas concentrations in the atmosphere at a level that would prevent dangerous interference with the climate system. Such a level should be achieved within a time frame sufficient to allow ecosystems to adapt naturally to climate change, to ensure that food production is not threatened and to enable economic development to proceed in a sustainable manner."

The need for adaptation referred to in the second sentence has been acknowledged by more and more parties and gained in importance. The discourse on mitigation can no longer be separated from adaptation, as can be seen from the Bali Action Plan. The process for mitigation in negotiations also depends on the process for adaptation and vice versa. A crucial linking element is the provision of financial resources for adaptation and possible new financing instruments related to the field of mitigation.

#### 3.1.2 Adaptation framed by climate change definitions

The ultimate objective of the convention shows that adaptation is linked to mitigation policy within the UNFCCC. As there is no explicit definition of the term adaptation, adaptation can be understood as conceptually framed by climate change definitions (Mace 2006, 55). The convention defines "climate change" and "adverse effects of climate change".

"Climate change" is defined as a "change of climate which is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and which is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods" (Art. 1.1). The definition of climate change in the convention is limited to anthropogenic climate change that has *"important implications for understanding 'effects' of climate change to be addressed by the convention process, and for determining the role of the convention process in fashioning an equitable response"* (Mace 2006, 55). The United States, for example, resisted any explicit reference to "insurance" in the Buenos Aires Decision 1/CP.10 because of the linkage it created between extreme weather events and climate change (Mace, 2006, 62; FCCC/CP/2004/10/Add.1). The concept of "adaptation to the effects of anthropogenic climate change" is also reflected in the financial mechanism of the convention (see Chapter 3.2.1 ). The restriction to human-induced climate change differs from the IPCC definition that refers to any change in climate over time, whether due to natural variability or as a result of human activity (IPCC 2001a, WGI, 2).<sup>12</sup>

<sup>12 &</sup>quot;Climate change in IPCC usage refers to any change in climate over time, whether due to natural variability or as a result of human activity. This usage differs from that in the Framework Convention on Climate Change, where climate change refers to a change of climate that is attributed directly or indirectly to human activity that alters the composition of the global atmosphere and that is in addition to natural climate variability observed over comparable time periods" (IPCC 2001a, WGI, 2).

"Adverse effects of climate change" are defined as "changes in the physical environment or biota resulting from climate change which have significant deleterious effects on the composition, resilience or productivity of natural and managed ecosystems or on the operation of socio-economic systems or on human health and welfare". As Mace (2006, 55) notes, the breadth of the terms "composition", "resilience" and "productivity" draw in a wide range of climate impacts to which adaptation efforts may theoretically be directed under the convention. But the definition also shows that adaptation is strongly related on the one hand to the impacts of climate change and on the other hand to ecosystem adaptation, a fact that shows the influence of the debate of the late 1980s, when thinking on adaptation was closely related to ecosystem adaptation (Schipper 2004, 57) and hence to autonomous adaptation.

#### Broadening the understanding of adaptation

The conceptualization of adaptation as a response to the impacts of anthropogenic climate change has broadened with the rise of adaptation on the policy agenda, foremost with the Marrakech Accords and their funding decisions (FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.1), which will be analyzed in Chapter 3.2, the establishment of the Nairobi Work Programme and, finally, the Bali Action Plan.

The Nairobi Work Programme is a 5 year programme that was requested by the parties in 2003 (Decision 10/CP.9, FCCC/CP/2003/6/Add.1) and will be implemented from 2005 to 2010. Its objective is to assist all parties, particularly developing countries, "to improve their understanding and assessment of impacts, vulnerability and adaptation, and to make informed decisions on practical adaptation actions and measures to respond to climate change on a sound scientific, technical and socio-economic basis" (FCCC/SBSTA/ 2008/L.13/Rev.1). The programme takes into account not only future or anthropogenic climate change but also current climate variability, and it thus broadens the conceptual basis of adaptation activities. At COP 12 (Conference of the Parties) in 2005 in Montreal, the parties decided on nine thematic work areas which reflect this broader approach. On the one hand, this comprises activities closely related to impacts of climate change, such as climate modelling, scenarios and downscaling or data and observations. On the other hand, it contains activities that allow for a broader consideration of the developmental and socioeconomic context of adaptation measures, such as climate-related risks and extreme events, socioeconomic information or adaptation planning and practices.<sup>13</sup>

In this regard, the Nairobi Work Programme is seen by some as an important step in bringing forward adaptation action under the convention, but its institutional role is limited as the programme is part of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific and Technological Advice (SBSTA) and is set to end in 2010. The SBSTA is mandated by Article 9 of the Convention to provide the COP with information and advice, but it has no implementing authority. The Nairobi Work Programme therefore was criticized during negotiations by developing countries as of little use unless it was action-oriented and included pilot projects that could feed in recommendations to the Subsidiary Body for Implementation

<sup>13</sup> For further information on the thematic areas and action-oriented sub-themes of the Nairobi Work Programm, see the annex to decision 2/CP.11 and conclusions of SB 25 (FCCC/SBSTA/2008/ L.13/Rev.1). For a report on completed activities, see FCCC/SBSTA/2008/5 and FCCC/SBSTA/2008/ MISC.3, and see Add.1–2 for views of the parties on further activities.

(SBI). Proponents of the programme see its merit in the ability to catalyze and coordinate concrete action on adaptation by parties, organizations and other stakeholders (Mace 2007).

Consideration of current climate change and/or climate variability for adaptation activities under the convention is also provided for in the Bali Action Plan. It includes enhanced action on risk management and risk reduction strategies, including insurance (1.(c)(ii)). But the Bali Action Plan also addresses adaptation detached from a perspective guided by climate change impacts, and coming from a development perspective, as it envisages support for climate-resilient development (see also Chapter 4). To what extent this will be considered in the elaboration of the adaptation framework of a post-2010 agreement still needs to be negotiated.

With regard to the implementation of an adaptation concept that is framed by climate change definitions, and regarding its scope within the convention, the question of "adapting to the effects of what, anthropogenic climate change, climate change or climate variability?" is important and needs to be clarified. This question in turn relates to the scientific understanding of climate change and whether or not current climate variability is already seen as part of climate change. The conceptual understanding of adaptation framed by climate change definitions is therefore also shaped by scientific knowledge and progress on the meaning and scope of the impacts of climate change.

Besides climate change-related concepts of adaptation, the convention addresses two further adaptation concepts: adaptation to response measures and adaptation as compensation.

#### 3.1.3 Adaptation to response measures

Related to the question "adapting to the effects of what?" there is in the convention another concept of what adaptation means, although it is related to the cause of climate change and not its impacts, namely the concept of adaptation to response measures. Adaptation to response measures reflects the concern of oil producing countries in the UNFCCC that fear that their economies will be adversely affected by the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions. This is also referred to as "impact of the implementation of response measures" (see www.unfccc.int; Yamin / Depledge 2004, 247). It is covered under the same Article 4.8 as activities on adaptation in response to the adverse effects of climate change.<sup>14</sup> This linkage of two completely different "adaptation" concepts in one article has been and still is problematic for the development of support for efforts to counter the adverse effects of climate change. OPEC (Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries) countries, however, have been successful in creating this procedural linkage, which means that progress on adaptation issues has consequently become conditional upon progress in the interests of oil producing countries (Yamin / Depledge 2004, 247 ff.; Schipper 2004, 62; Mace 2006, 58). Usually, oil producing countries have referred to adaptation to response measures as the need to diversify their economies. The need for economic diversification as an adaptation measure is increasingly also referred to as a re-

<sup>14</sup> For a description of key actor groups involved in this issue, see Barnett / Dessai (2002).

sponse to the impacts of climate change by developing countries in general. This means that talking about "economic diversification" as a possible adaptation measure can be linked to two concepts of adaptation with regard to cause.

#### 3.1.4 Adaptation as compensation

The negotiation process on adaptation has always been implicitly linked to the discussion on liability (Schipper 2006, 85). During negotiations leading to the UNFCCC, Germany, for example, "proposed a protocol on the 'adjustment to climate changes and the prevention and containment of climate related damage" (Verheyen 2002, 131). The Alliance of Small Island States (AOSIS)<sup>15</sup> proposed that the convention "establish an insurance fund that would provide compensation for damages suffered as a result of sea-level rise" (Bodansky 1993, 528). The Bali Action Plan points to the concept of adaptation as compensation in a general way by referring to disaster reduction strategies and means "to address loss and damage associated with climate change impacts in developing countries that are particularly vulnerable to the adverse effects of climate change" (1/CP.13, FCCC/CP/2007/6/Add.1).

While the current climate change framework does not consider liability in a direct way, less explicit reference can be found in the convention text. In the preamble to the convention, the parties recall the 'no-harm' principle and the responsibility of states "to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction".<sup>16</sup> As the impacts of climate change represent an additional burden on developing countries' economies, this has always led to discussions on the extent to which payments for adaptation measures under the convention should be obligatory or can be seen as compensation for damages. The preamble is not legally binding for commitments under the convention and does not refer explicitly to developing countries (Verheyen 2002, 136). Also, financial transfers to developing countries in support of adaptation are, at present, voluntary in nature.

Nevertheless, some scholars see a significant change in the legal and political basis with regard to payments for adaptation. The background is the discussion on the 'right to development', which is still under discussion as a basis for mandatory development aid, although it is not accepted as a principle of international law (Verheyen 2002,134 citing inter alia Chowdhury et al., 1992 for a deeper analysis). The climate regime, however, *"provides developing countries with a legal basis to claim funds from developed States for purposes defined in the Convention"* (Verheyen 2002, 134; see also Sands 1992, 274). These "purposes" and the question of who is entitled to claim what amount of funds for what and what the obligations for funding are are qualified by Article 4 of the convention

<sup>15</sup> AOSIS "is a coalition of some 43 low-lying and small island countries, most of which are members of the G-77, that are particularly vulnerable to sea-level rise. AOSIS countries are united by the threat that climate change poses to their survival and frequently adopt a common stance in negotiations. They were the first to propose a draft text during the Kyoto Protocol negotiations calling for cuts in carbon dioxide emissions of 20 % from 1990 levels by 2005" (www.unfccc.int).

<sup>16</sup> In the environmental field, the no-harm principle acquired legitimacy by being adopted in Article 21 of the Stockholm Declaration of the UN Conference on the Human Environment in 1972, and it was subsequently adopted as Principle 2 by the Rio Declaration on the Environment and Development (Gupta 2007, 76).

and subsequent guidance to the financial mechanism of the UNFCCC (see Chapter 3.2).<sup>17</sup> The purpose of adaptation funding hence depends on the conceptual understanding of the scope and meaning of adaptation in the convention. The right to claim adaptation expenses is also qualified by the procedural requirement to "agree" on costs with the Global Environment Facility (GEF), the financial mechanism of the convention.

Linking the concept of adaptation to compensation claims is therefore closely associated with the question of who defines adaptation and who controls and owns the financial resources. Control over financial resources and the appropriate financial institution was already a matter of controversy in negotiations on Article 11, the financial mechanism of the convention, not only in terms of adaptation but also with respect to general support for mitigation measures. The G77 argued that providing financial assistance to developing countries that participate in efforts to curb climate change is an obligation, not charity, and that donor countries should not have a right to control the financial mechanism (Bodansky 1993, 538 f.). To what extent is this or one of the previously described adaptation concepts finally reflected in the current funding provisions?

#### 3.2 Funding adaptation

Two broad categories of activities are eligible for funding for developing countries (non-Annex I countries) under the convention: the implementation of general commitments under the convention, such as national communication obligations (see Article 12.1), and the implementation of adaptation activities for the adverse effects of climate change and response measures as covered by Article 4.1 (Decision 11/CP.1, FCCC/CP/1995/7/Add.1).

For the implementation of general commitments under the convention, the developed countries listed in Annex II commit to provide new and additional financial resources to meet the "agreed full costs" of developing countries. For the implementation of adaptation measures to the adverse effects of climate change, developed countries commit to supply financial resources for the "agreed full incremental costs" (Article 4.3). "Agreed" refers to the agreement which has to be reached between a developing country party and the convention's financial mechanism, a function assigned to the Global Environment Facility in 1992 (UNFCCC Art. 11; FCCC/SBI/2007/21; Mace 2006, 63).

As the financial mechanism, the GEF functions under the guidance of and is accountable to the Conference of the Parties, which decides on its policies, programme priorities and eligibility criteria in relation to the Convention (Art. 11.1). The guidance to the GEF and its eligibility criteria for funding should, therefore, reflect the decisions made by parties on adaptation action and the related conceptual deliberations on adaptation.<sup>18</sup> Currently, the UNFCCC has "four windows" to address adaptation: the GEF Trust Fund, with its emphasis on global benefits and pursuing synergies (Waller-Hunter 2005, 1), the Least Developed Country Fund and the Special Climate Change Fund, which are under the

<sup>17</sup> See Verheyen (2002) for a detailed discussion on Article 4.3 and 4.4, which qualify funding commitments, or Verheyen (2005).

<sup>18</sup> This is e.g. reiterated in Decision 2/CP.4, recalling the operating principles of the GEF to maintain flexibility to respond to changing circumstances, including evolving guidance of the COP and experience gained from monitoring and evaluation activities.

which have significant adaptation components, and finally the Adaptation Fund under the Kyoto Protocol. The last three funds were adopted with the Marrakech Accords in 2001 (Decision 7/CP.7 and 10/CP.7, FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.1).

#### 3.2.1 Guiding GEF Trust Fund activities and eligibility criteria

At COP 1 in Berlin in 1995, the parties gave initial guidance to the Global Environment Facility (GEF) on adaptation activities eligible for funding as well as for programme priorities, adopting a "three-stage" approach for implementation. These three stages reflect short-, medium- and long-term strategies. Stage I consists of "planning, *which includes studies of possible impacts of climate change, to identify particularly vulnerable countries or regions and policy options for adaptation and appropriate capacity-building*" (Decisions 11./CP.1, FCCC/CP/1995/7/Add.1, 37, emphasis added).<sup>19</sup> This can as well encompass the evaluation of policy options for adequate monitoring systems or response strategies in coastal zone management, disaster preparedness, agriculture, fisheries and forestry (see GEF 1995; Klein 2003, 38).

Building on work in Stage I and the particularly vulnerable countries or regions identified therein, Stage II will include further capacity building to prepare for adaptation in those countries and Stage III envisages actual "measures to facilitate adequate adaptation, including insurance" (as envisaged by Article 4.1(b) and 4.4; Decisions 11./CP.1, FCCC/CP/1995/ 7/Add.1: 37). The decision on starting Stage II and III activities depends on the outcome of Stage I as well on results from scientific and technical studies, such as those of the IPCC and any evidence of the adverse effects of climate change. In 1998, the parties gave the GEF a mandate for funding and implementation of Stage II activities as envisaged by Article 4.1(e), but no extra financial resources were provided for (Klein 2003, 39; Decision 2/CP.4, FCCC/CP/1998/16/Add.1). The decision comprises cooperation in preparing for adaptation to the impacts of climate change, the development and elaboration of appropriate and integrated plans for coastal zone management, water resources and agriculture, and for the protection and rehabilitation of areas, particularly in Africa, affected by drought, desertification and floods. Möhner and Klein (2007, 7) note critically that actual GEF funding practices have narrowed down the focus of possible adaptation funding to the mere financing of National Communications under Stages I and II.

From a conceptual perspective, guidance to the GEF focuses on adaptation options in response to and framed by climate change impacts. The need to start out with implementing activities beyond the stage of planning depends on the evidence of impacts. That Stage I activities start with planning was, inter alia, a reflection of scientific uncertainties prevailing at that time with regard to the impacts of climate change, especially on the regional level. Another basis for funding which applies to the implementation of Stage II and Article 4.1 activities is the GEF trust fund's concept of "incremental costs" (see Art. 4.3).

"Incremental costs" are the difference between two costs that quantify the amount of the payment that developing countries will receive from developed countries "as compensa-

<sup>19</sup> Activities under Stage I are also referred to as "enabling activities" such as capacity building and data collection and archiving (Decision 11/CP.2, FCCC/CP/1996/15/Add.1).

tion for acceding to, and implementing the terms of, international environmental agreements" (Jordan / Werksman 1994, 83 f.). In terms of adaptation funding under the GEF, "incremental costs" would determine the additional costs to maintain a system "climatesafe" based on a distinction between adaptation to a future, scenario-based climate change and adaptation to today's climate variability (Klein 2003, 41 and 45).<sup>20</sup> The "incremental cost" concept can be ascribed to the fact that the UNFCCC applies only for anthropogenic climate change and that therefore only measures in response to climate change caused by human activity are eligible for funding (Verheyen 2002, 135). It is also linked to the concept of global public goods referred to in the principles of the convention stating that measures to deal with climate change should ensure global benefits.<sup>21</sup>

The concept of "incremental costs" and global benefits is extremely problematic in the context of adaptation funding. The need to adapt arises from a global cause, but adaptation activities have to be embedded in national and local contexts. It is difficult for developing countries to differentiate between a baseline activity and an activity taking place under a climate change scenario, especially since climate change scenarios are not available to many developing countries (Klein 2003, 41; Mace 2006, 64). The exclusion of adaptation activities on the basis of climate variability constitutes an obstacle (see e. g. decision 11/CP.2, FCCC/CP/1996/15/Add.1) in both meeting the (funding) needs of developing countries and in accessing funds.<sup>22</sup>

The conceptual basis for funding described above in theoretical terms also applies to the third stage of adaptation funding, but the COP never provided explicit guidance for Stage III adaptation funding (Möhner / Klein 2007, 7). With the adoption of the so-called Marrakech Accords in 2001, it seems that the three-stage approach is no longer the only guidance for adaptation funding (Klein 2003, 39). At COP seven in Marrakech, the parties established three new funds (Least Developed Countries Fund, Special Climate Change Fund and Adaptation Fund) and decided on a number of additional adaptation activities, expanding the scope of activities previously supported by GEF, but adhering to the staged approach (see Decision 5 and 6/CP.7, FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.1; Mace 2006, 59). They requested that the GEF establish "pilot or demonstration projects to show how adaptation planning and assessment can be practically translated into projects that will provide real benefits, and may be integrated into national policy and sustainable development planning" (Decision 6/CP.7, FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.1). This strategic priority was later called "Piloting an Operational Approach to Adaptation" (SPA), and its objective is to reduce vulnerability to climate change and enhance adaptive capacity to the adverse effects of climate change in all GEF focal areas (GEF 2008, 2). In their initial guidance to the fund,

<sup>20</sup> On "incremental costs", see also GEF (1996): "The cost of GEF eligible activity should be compared to that of the activity it replaces or makes redundant. The difference between the two costs – the expenditure on the GEF supported activity and the cost saving on the replaced or redundant activity – is the incremental cost. It is a measure of the future economic burden on the country that would result from its choosing the GEF supported activity in preference to one that would have been sufficient in the national interest."

<sup>21</sup> The meaning of global (environmental) benefits for purposes of accessing GEF funding depends upon the goals of each convention and application of the GEF's Operational Strategy (Mace 2005, 227).

<sup>22</sup> See e. g. UNFCCC Decision 5/CP.8, which reflects the concerns about the "incremental cost" principle and which "invites" the GEF to make "the concept of agreed incremental costs and global benefits more understandable, recognizing that the process for determining incremental costs should be transparent, flexible and pragmatic, consistent with the Beijing Declaration".

the parties did not specify the incremental cost principle (compare Decision 6/CP.7, FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.1). The GEF Council states that projects are eligible that generate both local and global benefits "so long as their benefits are primarily global in nature" (GEF 2008a, 3; GEF 2004, 7). The GEF adhered to the "incremental cost" principle for the fund with the application of new rules on how to calculate incremental costs. It states, however, that there is a need to reconsider new approaches to the calculation of the incremental costs of adaptation, depending on guidance by the UNFCCC (GEF 2008d).

## 3.2.2 Guidance on the Least Developed Countries Fund and Special Climate Change Fund

The Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF) and the Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF) were decided on in 2001 in Marrakech (Decision 27/CP.7 and 7/CP.7, FCCC/CP/ 2001/13/Add.1). The Least Developed Country Fund was established primarily to fund national adaptation programmes of action (NAPAs) and an LDC Expert Group (LEG) to provide guidance and advice on the preparation and implementation strategy for NAPAs. NAPAs are designed to communicate the urgent adaptation and short-term adaptation needs of LDCs and are the only specific document within the framework of the climate regime to exclusively address adaptation (Verheyen 2002, 133). In a second phase, the LDCF will also finance activities identified in the NAPAs.

The initial guidelines on the preparation of NAPAs issued at COP-7 called for a participatory assessment of domestic vulnerability to current climate variability and extreme weather events (Decision 28/CP.7, FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.4). With the inclusion of climate variability in the assessment guidelines, the conceptual basis for funding of adaptation activities under the Least Developed Country Fund has broadened, in comparison to the GEF funding criteria. The parties recognized that reduction of current vulnerability to climate variability is a possible adaptation activity, and they no longer limit response strategies to impacts caused by anthropogenic climate change. Verheyen (2002, 134) notes that "this is an important deviation from the principle in the funding provisions of the UNFCCC and might result in a situation in which the climate regime provides funding to measures that are beyond its initial scope". In their guidance to the LDC Fund, the COP decided to provide funding to meet the "additional costs" of activities to adapt to the adverse effects of climate change as identified and prioritized in the national adaptation programmes of action. "Additional costs" refers to the costs imposed on vulnerable countries to meet their immediate adaptation needs (Decision 6/CP.9, FCCC/CP/2003/6/Add.1; GEF 2006).

The Special Climate Change Fund finances activities that are complementary to activities in the climate change focal areas of the GEF, including (a) adaptation to climate change, (b) technology transfer, (c) economic diversification and (d) activities in the field of energy, transport, industry, agriculture, forestry and waste management (GEF 2007, 1; GEF 2008a, 4). It gives adaptation the highest priority with the objective of implementing longterm measures that increase the resilience of national development sectors to the impacts

#### Box 1: "Additional costs" of adaptation funded by the LDCF

"LDCF support to adaptation projects will be based on identifying and meeting additional costs. Activities that would be implemented in the absence of climate change constitute a project baseline, and the costs of achieving this development scenario are referred to as baseline costs or baseline financing. The altered plan of action required to achieve the national sustainable development goals, to build adaptive capacity, and to increase resilience to the anticipated climate change comprises an adaptation scenario. The costs of this adaptation scenario constitute the total project costs and will normally exceed the costs of the baseline scenario. The additional costs associated with meeting these extra adaptation needs imposed on the country by the effects of climate change will be supported by the LDCF."

"The term 'additional costs' refers to the costs superimposed on vulnerable countries to meet their immediate adaptation needs, as opposed to the term 'incremental costs', paid by the GEF in projects that generate global benefits."

Source: GEF (2006); GEF (2008a, 2)

of climate change.<sup>23</sup> Like the LDCF, the fund operates on the basis of 'additional costs'. It is not necessary that it generates global environmental benefits, and it may generate local benefits if a project demonstrates 'additional costs' entailed by climate change for the development baseline. "Activities are to be country-driven, cost-effective and integrated into national sustainable development and poverty reduction strategies" (GEF 2007).

#### 3.2.3 The Adaptation Fund under the Kyoto Protocol

The Adaptation Fund is also part of the Marrakech accords and was established in addition to the two previous funds to finance concrete adaptation projects and programmes in developing countries that are parties to the Kyoto Protocol (Article 12.8 Kyoto Protocol; Decision 10./CP.7; including activities listed in § 8 of 5/CP.7, FCCC/CP/2001/13/Add.4). Unlike the previous funds, financial contributions to the Adaptation Fund are obligatory in an indirect way. The fund receives a 2 % share of proceeds from the Clean Development Mechanism (CDM),<sup>24</sup> and it is thus linked to the emission reduction obligations of parties that signed the Kyoto Protocol.

The obligatory nature of adaptation funding links the Adaptation Fund to the concept of adaptation as compensation. This is affirmed by the new governance structure of the Adaptation Fund in comparison to that of the GEF. Decisions within the GEF are taken by the GEF Council, which consists of 32 members. The council is composed of 18 recipient country' groupings and 14 constituencies made up of 'non-recipient countries'. The GEF Council takes decisions by consensus, but if this seems impracticable, any member of the council may request a formal vote. "Decisions requiring formal votes are generally taken by a double-weighted majority, which requires an affirmative vote representing both a

<sup>23</sup> See Decisions 5/CP.7, 7/CP.7 and 5/CP.9. Initially the GEF received guidance from the COP to craft funding guidelines for items (a) and (b). At COP 12, the parties gave additional guidance on how to operationalize a program in the areas of (c) and (d); they can be found in GEF/LDC.SCCF.2/4/Rev.1; see also GEF/LDCF.SCCCF.4/Inf.3 for a progress report on the two funds.

<sup>24</sup> The CDM allows a country with an emission-reduction or emission-limitation commitment under the Kyoto Protocol (Annex B Party) to implement an emission-reduction project in developing countries.

Table 1:   Funding adaptation under the UNFCCC				
	Funding source		Funding principle	
	Donor contributions (total pledges outstanding and contributions finalized)			
Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF) Adapta- tion Programme <sup>a)</sup>	91 million US\$		additional costs	
Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF) <sup>b)</sup>	172 million US\$		additional costs	
Special Priority on Adaptation (SPA) <sup>c)</sup>	50 million US\$		incremental costs (new rules)	
		CDM share of proceeds		
Adaptation Fund (AF) <sup>d)</sup>	~0.5 million US\$	~58 million US\$ (currently) 620 to 960 million US\$ (2008-1012)	full adaptation costs	

Source:

a) "Funding for the project proposals included in the current work program and the current pipeline would require \$113.98 million from the SCCF Program for Adaptation. As total pledges to the Adaptation Program of the SCCF are now \$91 million, programming under this program cannot continue beyond 2008. As a result, the GEF Secretariat in February 2007 decided to close the pipeline for new submissions under the SCCF Adaptation Program until new funding becomes available." (GEF 2008b)

b) GEF 2008b

c) One-time replenishment for 3 a year-period; resources are entirely committed, SPA is ready for evaluation (GEF 2008d)

d) Donor contributions refer to contributions to the trust fund for administrative expenses of the Adaptation Fund after future reimbursement; the amounts available to the AF depend on monetization of CERs (certified emission reductions) from the CDM. The Fund currently holds 3 million CERs, which amounts to 45 million euros, using average prices for 2007. The conservative calculation is based on the estimated amount of CERs to be allocated to the AF of around 32 million CERs, spread over the 2008–2012 period, using the 2007 average price for CERs; 960 million US\$ is a risk-adjusted value for CERs using projected December 2008 prices of 30 US\$/ton (Adaptation Fund Board 2008a; presentation by trustee, 2nd AF Board meeting, 16.–19.2008)

60 % majority of the total number of participants and a 60 % majority of the total contributions" (Mace 2005, 230, 229). This voting system gives major donor countries a greater influence on council decisions and hence differs from the UN voting system of one country, one vote. Developing countries, therefore, had been opposed to establishing the GEF as the financial mechanism of the UNFCCC and argued for a new institution under the authority of the parties to the convention (Bodansky 1993, 538). This was opposed by developed countries that "did not wish to entrust their money to a new untested mechanism, potentially under the sway of developing countries" (Bodansky 1993, 538).

The Adaptation Fund is a new financing institution for adaptation to climate change. At the third meeting of the parties to the Kyoto Protocol, it was decided that the operating entity of the Adaptation Fund would be the Adaptation Fund Board, and the GEF was invited to provide secretariat services only and the World Bank (International Bank for Reconstruction and Development) was called on to serve as a trustee for the Adaptation Fund (Adaptation Fund Board, 2008a; AFB.B.2/CRP.2, June 18, 2008; 1/CMP.3). The Adaptation Fund Board is composed of 16 members and 16 alternates, formally elected by a meeting of the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol. It has a majority representation for developing countries, comprising two representatives from each of the five United Nations Groups, one representative of the small island developing states, one representative of the least developed country parties, two other representatives from Annex I parties and two other representatives from non-Annex I parties.<sup>25</sup> The Adaptation Fund Board is to be responsible for the supervision and management of the Adaptation Fund, including for example the development of operational policies, guidelines and eligibility criteria for implementation of projects consistent with Decision 5/CMP.2 (Adaptation Fund Board 2008c, 1). Decisions of the Board are to be taken by consensus whenever possible and by a two-thirds majority of the members present, on the basis of one member, one vote (Adaptation Fund Board 2008d, 5).

This new institutional governance structure gives "control" over disbursement of financial resources to potential recipient countries. The Fund will not apply the incremental cost principle but will support adaptation on a full-cost basis (Adaptation Fund Board 2008c, 1; AFB/B.2/3). It is most likely that the Adaptation Fund will apply a broad conceptual basis in seeking to consider, to the greatest extent possible, developing countries' needs and their interpretation of the term "adequate adaptation". The Fund is not yet operational and policies and guidelines for access to funds by parties still need to be elaborated.

#### **4** Adaptation in the scientific discourse

The conceptual discussion of adaptation to climate change within the UNFCCC and its rise on the policy agenda evolved in interaction with the scientific discourse, which reflects to a certain extent the political discussions and vice versa. There are parallels in the evolution of conceptual thinking but also specifications as represented in the IPCC Assessment Reports which are not echoed in the political discussions or the institutional set-up of the UNFCCC. The IPCC assessment reports summarize and reflect scientific viewpoints on climate change for decision makers and serve as a basis for decisions of UNFCCC negotiators. The scientific discussion on adaptation illustrates the various theoretical approaches to adaptation and possible entry points for framing adaptation, adaptation planning and action.

#### 4.1 The evolution of conceptual thinking in adaptation research

In ways similar to the political process, adaptation in response to climate change for a long time received little attention by scientists. The main reason was uncertainty as to whether there was a human influence on climate change and what the range of climate change and its effects would be (see e. g. Smithers / Smit 1997). In his review of the second IPCC

<sup>25</sup> For a list of board members, see http://www.adaptation-fund.org/.

report, Kates criticizes the scant analysis on adaptation and explains this with reference to two schools of thought, the "preventionist" and "adaptationist" schools (Kates 1997, 32). Preventionists argue that any action on adaptation is premature and that, instead, drastic reductions of greenhouse gases are necessary to avoid possible catastrophic impacts of climate change. They fear that work on adaptation "will weaken society's willingness to reduce greenhouse gas emissions" (Kates 1997, 32). Adaptationists argue "that the projected changes in climate will be slow enough that both nature and human society can [...] adapt to them" (Kates 1997, 31). They point to the long history of natural and human adaptation to climate fluctuations.

Both perspectives on the magnitude of climate change and corresponding adaptation necessities discouraged research on adaptation and tended to ignore developing countries' inability either to prevent or to adapt to climate change (Kates 1997, 32). This changed with the publication of the second and, and at the latest, third assessment report of the IPCC (see e. g. Klein 2003, 33). The so-called 'realist' school (Klein / MacIver 1999) emerged on the basis of enhanced knowledge of climate change and its impacts and following the publication of the IPCC's Second Assessment Report, which sees adaptation as a "crucial and realistic response option" along with mitigation. "*The realist school positions itself between the two extreme views of the preventionists and adaptationists. Realists regard climate change as a fact but acknowledge that impacts are still uncertain*" (Klein 2003, 33, quoting Parry et al. 1998; Pielke 1998 as examples). In line with this rationale, adaptation to current climate variability had been proposed in preparation for long-term climate change.<sup>26</sup> There are few scientists who see adaptation as the only response option to climate change (Schipper 2006, 83 referring to Okonski 2003, as one example).

The issue of adaptation received increasing attention in global climate change research only towards the end of the 1990s, but it was able to draw on adaptation concepts from other fields of science. According to Smithers / Smit, the term adaptation has its roots in population biology and evolutionary ecology and has found wide application in scientific research on human-environment interaction such as cultural ecology, natural hazard research or ecological anthropology.<sup>27</sup> This application in various fields of research led to distinct interpretations of the concept of adaptation, but there are also broad consistencies in the use of the term as outlined in Chapter 4.2 (Smithers / Smit 1997, 133 ff.; Wheaton / MacIver 1999, 216). As one specific feature of adaptation to climate change, Schipper (2004) points to its objective of adjusting entire human systems to a different set of external parameters instead of single components, and Füssel names several aspects of adaptation which are new despite the long history of adaptation to climate and climate change. Among these are unprecedented climate conditions, an unprecedented rate of global climate change, unprecedented knowledge that makes adaptation planning possible, and new actors who previously did not need to consider changing climate factors in their decisions (Füssel 2007, 268).

<sup>26</sup> See Burton (1997) or Smithers / Smit (1997) for a discussion of the distinction between climate and climate change from the perspective of adaptation.

<sup>27</sup> See Smithers / Smit (1997, 133) for further reading on adaptation research in different scholarly fields and Schipper (2004) on the influence of the fields of ecology and anthropology as background information on interpreting adaptation to climate change.

#### Impact- and vulnerability-based approaches

Many scholars conceptualized adaptation to climate change by contrasting it with other, similar, and to a certain extent interrelated concepts like "vulnerability", "resilience", "coping" or "risk management".<sup>28</sup> In particular, the way vulnerability is interpreted in climate change research and the way adaptation and vulnerability are conceptualized in relation to one another are important as they show the two broad entry points of how adaptation had been framed in assessments and what associated adaptation measures are. There are two major assessment approaches, climate scenario-driven impact assessments and vulnerability-based approaches (Carter et al. 2007; FCCC/SBSTA/2004/Inf.13; Füssel 2007, 271; Füssel / Klein 2006; Burton et al. 2005).<sup>29</sup>

In the scenario-driven impact assessment,<sup>30</sup> vulnerability is viewed as the end point of analysis, as the residual of climate change impacts minus adaptation. The assessment approach aims to evaluate the likely impacts of climate change under a given scenario derived from general circulation models (GCMs) and to assess the need for adaptation and/or mitigation to reduce any resulting vulnerability to climate risk (Carter et al. 2007, 136).

"The chosen scenarios were commonly applied to models of ecosystems, to specific species within an ecosystem, or to a component of the biogeophysical environment such as sea level; coastal zones, including coral reefs; the hydrological cycle; mountains; deserts; or small islands. These 'first order' impacts were sometimes carried forward to the modelling of 'second order' impacts on economic sectors such as agriculture, forestry, water resource management, human health, and so forth. Only at the end of a long research process was adaptation considered, and only infrequently were socioeconomic scenarios developed alongside the climate scenarios" (UNFCCC 2008, 2).

In this approach, vulnerability summarizes the net impact of the climate problem and can be represented quantitatively as monetary cost, human mortality, ecosystem damage or qualitatively as a description of relative or comparative change (O'Brien et al. 2004, 2 based on Kelly / Adger 2000, 326).

In the vulnerability-based approach,<sup>31</sup> vulnerability is considered as a starting point for analysis. The vulnerability-based approach starts out research with current climate variability and adaptation (or the lack of adaptation or maladaptation) in addition to future climate change. It broadens research to non-climatic factors such as environmental and social stressors as well as changes in socioeconomic conditions (O'Brien et al. 2004, 2; UNFCCC 2008, 2).<sup>32</sup>

<sup>28</sup> For a discussion, see e. g. Schipper (2004); Brooks (2003); Füssel / Klein (2006); Kelly / Adger (2000).

<sup>29</sup> An approach is defined as "*the overall scope and direction of an assessment and can accommodate a variety of different methods*" (Carter et al. 2007, 135). Within these two approaches, there is no general methodology for adaptation assessment due to the great diversity of analytical methods employed (Carter et al. 2007, 138).

<sup>30</sup> Also referred to as hazard-based, model-based, top-down approach and 'type 1' or "first generation" adaptation research.

<sup>31</sup> Also called bottom-up approach, 'type 2' or "second generation" adaptation research.

<sup>32</sup> For examples of research guidelines and frameworks that apply this approach, see Burton et al. (2004); The National Adaptation Programmes of Action (NAPAs, see Chapter 3.2.2); the AIACC projects

The scenario-driven impact assessment dominated the literature in the 1990s and was the standard approach developed in the IPCC guidelines of 1994 (Carter et al. 1994).<sup>33</sup> It originated with the purpose of quantifying vulnerability to climate change by asking what the extent of the climate change problem is and whether the costs of climate change exceed the costs of greenhouse gas mitigation. The adaptation options identified under this approach included rather static, technological options such as irrigation schemes, drought-tolerant seed varieties, infrastructural improvements etc. (O'Brien et al. 2004, 3–5). The assessment approach, however, broadened in accordance with the realist school and the notion that climate variability (in past and present), offers valuable starting points for the assessment of adaptive capacity and adaptation.

The vulnerability-based approach that follows this rationale has its origins in assessments of social vulnerability and asks who is vulnerable and why and how vulnerability can be reduced. It analyses inherent social and economic processes of marginalization and inequalities as the causes of climate vulnerability and seeks to identify ways of addressing these (O'Brien et al. 2004, 2). It is one purpose of the approach to identify policies or measures that reduce vulnerability, increase adaptive capacity, or illuminate adaptation options and constraints (O'Brien et al. 2004, 2). Adaptive capacity is defined by the IPCC as *"the potential or ability of a system, region, or community to adapt to the effects or impacts of climate change"* (Smit et al. 2001, 881). The types of policy measures that emerge from these assessments are rather social than technical in nature and include poverty reduction (O'Brien et al. 2004, 5).

The described shift from research- or climate science-oriented agendas to policy-oriented approaches tailored to decision-making in adaptation assessment (see Füssel / Klein 2006, 302; Carter et al. 2007, 136) also points to a shift in problem perception and definition. Whereas the impact-based approach is derived from the perception that (long-term) climate change is the main problem and therefore climate protection is the main solution, with adaptation playing a negligible role, the vulnerability-based approach argues from a development perspective, emphasizing adaptation and development needs and problems, and starting from a perspective of current climate variability.

The shift in assessment also implies a shift in conceptual thinking about adaptation, as reflected in the IPCC Assessment Reports. Initially, climate change studies did not consider transient effects or variability and assumed that systems will adjust or not adjust to climate scenarios (see IPCC [1996]; Smithers / Smit 1997 [132]; see Smither / Smit [1997], 129, for further reading). Only a few empirical studies have focused more directly on adaptation, but they have rarely considered the process-related questions of when, why and under what conditions adaptations actually occur. This changed with the growing interest in adaptation planning and related institutional arrangements (Smithers / Smit 1997, 132). Another reason for the assumption-based treatment of adaptation was that concepts of adaptation were still evolving and that there was no common understanding of what is meant by the term (Smithers / Smit, 1997, 129–130). Although this remains a

<sup>(</sup>Assessment of Impacts and Adaptations to Climate Change, see www.aiaccproject.org); the UNDP Adaptation Policy Framework (APF; see http://ncsp.undp.org/report\_detail.cfm?Projectid=151).

<sup>33</sup> The IPCC guidelines of 1992 did not yet consider adaptation, see Carter et al. (1992); for further information on the IPCC guidelines, see also Carter (1996); other guidelines in this tradition include: Kates / Ausubel / Berberian (1985); Benioff et al. (1996) or Feenstra et al. (1998).



challenge, the following chapter will outline broad consistencies and core characteristics of adaptation definitions.

#### 4.2 Characteristics of adaptation

The need for fundamental work on systematically defining adaptation to climate change was suggested by Smit and other authors with the aim of structuring research and policy development (Smit et al. 1999, 2000). In their work they synthesize general agreed-upon concepts and terms of adaptation that presently find broad acceptance in research and are widely reflected not only in the third IPCC assessment report (Smit et al. 2001) but also in the fourth report of 2007 (Adger et al. 2007, 720). In brief, the IPCC defines adaptation as *"adjustment in natural or human systems in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects, which moderates harm or exploits beneficial opportunities"* (IPCC 2007, WG II 869).<sup>34</sup> The term can refer to changes in processes, practices or structures as well as to the condition of being adapted (Smit et al. 2001, 881 f.). Three questions

<sup>34</sup> See also Annex I for the evolution of IPCC definitions of adaptation in the four assessment reports.

broadly frame the definition of adaptation: (a) Adaptation to what? (b) who or what adapts? and (c) how does adaptation occur?

Adaptation takes place in response to actual or expected climatic stimuli or their effects. This can, for example, refer to temperature or effects such as drought or crop failure. These stimuli or the phenomena to which adaptations are made need to be specified according to temporal criteria, whether the changes are long-term changes, mean annual or decadal climate variability or extreme events (Smit et al. 1999, 205). Changes in the mean condition commonly fall within the so called coping range, the variation in climatic stimuli that a system can absorb without producing impacts (IPCC 2001b, WG II 882, 985). The stimuli need to be specified according to system relevance and the question who or what adapts? This refers to the nature of the system, whether it is e.g. ecological, economic, social or political. It also implies the question of scale and actors, as adaptation can refer to levels ranging from the local to the global as well as to different actors. The research has devoted considerable attention to the characteristics of a system that influence adaptive capacity (referred to as "adaptability" in the 1996 IPCC report, see Annex I). These characteristics, also called determinants, have been used to differentiate systems according to their likelihood of adaptation or need for adaptation (Smit et al. 2000, 236; Smit et al. 2001, 893). Terms like "sensitivity", "vulnerability", "susceptibility", "coping range", "critical levels", "resilience" and others have been used to describe this (Smit et al. 2000, 236).

The definition of the climate-sensitive system leads to the question of *how adaptation occurs* and what the attributes, forms and types of adaptation are (Smit et al. 2001, 882–884). Table 2 summarizes common attributes and characteristics. In unmanaged natural systems, adaptation is autonomous and reactive to climate stimuli. In human systems, adaptation can be both autonomous and planned. Autonomous adaptations are widely interpreted as initiatives by private or market actors rather than by governments, and they usually take place without intervention by the public, triggered by market or welfare changes induced by actual or anticipated climate change (Smit et al. 2001, 884 based on Leary 1999, Adger et al. 2007, 720). Autonomous adaptation is seen as a safe level with respect to climate impacts and represents a baseline against which the need for planned adaptation can be evaluated. But reviews also indicate that a 'wait and see', or reactive, approach can be inefficient and lead to irreversible damage such as species extinction or ecosystem damage (Adger et al. 2007, 721).

Planned adaptation is often interpreted as a result of deliberate a policy decision taken to minimize losses or benefit from opportunities. Such a decisions may be long-term, localized or widespread and may serve various functions and take numerous forms (see Table 2). It can be either anticipatory or reactive, although the boundary between the two may be blurred in practice (Watkiss et al. 2007, 30; Smit et al. 2001, 884).<sup>35</sup> Adaptations tend to be ongoing processes, reflecting many factors or stresses, rather than discrete measures designed to address climate-change specifically (Adger et al. 2007, 720).

<sup>35</sup> Watkiss et al. explain the difficulty in differentiating clearly between planned and autonomous adaptation: "Firstly, autonomous and planned adaptation often coexist. Secondly adaptive behaviours characterising social economic systems are often put in place by rational or informed economic agents who follow specific strategies. But unless these strategies are the outcome of a plan by a public agency or administration, these are considered autonomous" (Watkiss et al. 2007, 30).

Table 2:     Common at       Common Differentiating	tributes and ch	aracteristics of adaptation	
Concept or Attribute	Examples of	f Terms Used	
Purposefulness	Autonomous Spontaneous Automatic Natural Passive	$ \begin{array}{c} \leftarrow \\ \leftarrow $	Planned Purposeful Intentional Policy Active Strategic
Timing	Anticipatory Proactive <i>Ex ante</i>	← → →	Responsive Reactive Ex post
Temporal Scope	Short term Tactical Instantaneous Contingency Routine	<→ <→	Long term Strategic Cumulative
Spatial Scope	Localized	←───	Widespread
Function / Effects	Retreat – Accommodate – Protect Prevent – Tolerate – Spread – Change – Restore		
Form	Structural – Legal – Institutional – Regulatory – Financial – Technological		
Performance	Cost – Effectiveness – Efficiency – Implementability – Equity		
Source: Smit et al. (19	999)		

Concept or Attribute	Examples o	f Terms Used	
Purposefulness	Autonomous	<b>∢</b>	 Planned
	Spontaneous	<	 Purposeful
	Automatic	<	 Intentional
	Natural	←	 Policy
	Passive	◀───	 Active
			Strategic
Timing	Anticipatory	←	 Responsive
	Proactive	◀	 Reactive
	<i>Ex ante</i>	←	 Ex post
Temporal Scope	Short term	4	 Long term

#### 4.3 Conceptualizing adaptation for cost calculation

The aforementioned core characteristics of adaptation mentioned above are usually also applied for calculating costs of adaptation and are specified on that basis. Many studies on the impacts of climate change and related costs only take autonomous adaptation into account (Watkiss et al. 2007, 29 based on Warren et al. 2006). Some authors differentiate between autonomous *direct* adaptation, changes of economic agents in response to a climate stimuli, and autonomous indirect adaptation as the market response resulting from autonomous direct adaptation (Aaheim / Aasen 2008, 2). In differentiating between private and public adaptation, adaptation is also characterized as a public good, referring to types of adaptation that are underrepresented in the market and therefore need to be provided by public institutions (Watkiss et al. 2007, 30; Kuch / Gigli 2007, 15; Aaheim / Aasen 2008, 2 f.). The benefits of adaptation measures, however, are not seen as serving to provide global benefits (Fankhauser 1996, 90).

Planned adaptation can include changes in infrastructure as well as in standards and regulations (e. g. Watkiss et al. 2007, 30), and they thus encompass the impact- as well as the vulnerability-based approach. The latter approach is also involved in the definition of adaptation as a no-regret measure, because an adaptation activity is seen as a contribution that would render societies less vulnerable to many different pressures, including climate variability (Watkiss et al. 2007, 32; Callaway 2003, 9; Smit et al. 2001, 892). In this sense, no-regret adaptation policy is conceptualized primarily as development policy (see Callaway 2003, 9).

In general, adaptation costs are conceptualized according to two related categories, the costs of adaptation measures, e. g. building sea defences, and the costs of damage caused by global warming, such as decreased yields or the costs of extreme events like floods (e. g. Fankhauser 1998, 3; Yamin / Depledge 2004, 217). Stern, for example, defines the gross benefit of adaptation as damage that is avoided, the net benefit of adaptation being damage avoided minus the costs of adaptation, and he deduces the costs of climate change as the residual costs of climate damage plus costs of adaptation (Stern 2006, 405, based on Fankhauser 1998, 3; see also Kuch / Gigli 2007, 18). In cost calculations there is, however, a lack of conceptual agreement on what adaptation to climate change is (Callaway 2003, 8),<sup>36</sup> and it is a matter of controversy from a policy perspective. A monetised metric has limitations as the aggregation can mask uneven distribution of climate change impacts. Estimating climate change impacts on GDP may not consider impacts on subsistence farmers, for example (Yamin / Depledge 2004, 217).

#### 5 Addressing adaptation in development policy and practice

Climate change, and adaptation to climate change in particular, was long not explicitly addressed in development policy and practice. A comparative analysis of portfolio screenings of five development agencies between 1999 and 2006<sup>37</sup> concluded that agencies made few or no links to climate change. If mentioned, climate change was mainly seen as a an environmental issue and framed as a question of mitigation (Eriksen et al. 2007, 31). Correspondingly, in the same time period funding for adaptation within bi- and multilateral development agencies received only a small percentage of the overall official development assistance (ODA) budget (see e. g. Frankel-Reed 2006, 3, 14).

In that very time period, however, the attention accorded to climate change and adaptation to climate change rose constantly in development policy and practice. It gained momentum with the publication of the third IPCC assessment report and the support for adaptation by UNFCCC parties based on the 2001 Marrakech Accords (see above). The Delhi Ministerial Declaration at COP 12 again emphasized the link between climate change and sustainable development (UNFCCC 1/CP.8), and bi- and multilateral donors have also addressed the need to integrate adaptation to climate change into their operations (AFD et al. 2003). Also, developing countries have more often raised the issue of vulnerability and adaptation to climate change in development cooperation-related activities, as indicated by the mention of adaptation in Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSP) (see Table 3).

<sup>36</sup> For a critical discussion of methodologies applied to adaptation cost calculations, see Agrawala et al. (2008) and Watkiss et al. (2007).

<sup>37</sup> Burton / van Aalst (1999); Klein (2001); Eriksen / Naess (2003); Agrawala et al. 2003a–d, 2004a, b; Robledo et al. (2006).

Table 3:         Evolution of references to adaptation or mitigation in selected PRSPs				
		Adaptation	Mitigation	Both
Interim		9	27	0
PRSP I		46	73	46
PRSP II		73	91	73
Source:	The information is based on countries that have completed an interim PRSP and two full-sets of PRSPs since 1999. Eleven countries were considered: Cambodia, Ghana, Guinea, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Mozambique, Nicaragua, Tanzania, Vietnam, Zambia (IDA 2007, 10, 28)			

Only in 2006 did development co-operation ministers of the Organisation of Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) and heads of agencies together with OECD environment ministers officially declare their intent to integrate climate change adaptation into development co-operation (OECD 2006; see also OECD 2008). As possible entry points for integration, they mentioned country assistance strategies, sectoral policy frameworks, PRSPs, environmental impact assessment and others, which should be in line with the Paris Declaration on Aid Effectiveness. Also, the development of tools to systematically address climate risks ("climate proofing"<sup>38</sup>) in development activities is seen as one task and instrument for implementation.

There seems to be consensus in development policy that adaptation should be addressed by mainstreaming it into development cooperation instead of implementing "stand-alone" projects separately from ongoing development cooperation (e. g. AfDB et al. 2003; OECD 2008). This position is contested in international climate politics when it comes to questions of financing (see Chapter 5.2). Mainstreaming adaptation is seen as an efficient and effective way of using financial and human resources; the concept is borrowed from the integration of other relevant development topics into development cooperation, including e. g. gender (Klein et al. 2007, 25; Mitchell / Tanner 2006b, 7). "Mainstreaming involves the integration of policies and measures that address climate change into development planning and ongoing sectoral decision-making, so as to ensure the longterm sustainability of investments as well as to reduce the sensitivity of development activities to both today's and tomorrow's climate" (Klein et al. 2007, 25, based on Klein 2002, Huq et al. 2003; Agrawala 2005). The UNFCCC' LDC Expert group defines mainstreaming adaptation related to NAPAs, as "the integration of the objectives, policies, strategies or measures outlined within a NAPA such that they become part and parcel of national and regional development policies, processes and budgets at all levels and at all stages, and such that they complement or advance the broader objectives of poverty reduction and sustainable development" (LDC Expert Group 2002, 19 quoted in Schipper 2004, 71).

As outlined in the previous chapter, one challenge, also for mainstreaming adaptation into development cooperation, is the definition of adaptation itself. How does development

<sup>38 &</sup>quot;Climate proofing - a shorthand term for identifying risks to a development project, or any other specified natural or human asset, as a consequence of climate variability and change, and ensuring that those risks are reduced to acceptable levels through long-lasting and environmentally sound, economically viable, and socially acceptable changes implemented at one or more of the following stages in the project cycle: planning, design, construction, operation, and decommissioning" (ADB 2005, xii).

cooperation define adaptation? What are the entry points based on that development agencies use to initiate or modify development measures? Like the UNFCCC, development agencies have a kind of catalytic role in addressing adaptation needs and leveraging action on the ground.

#### 5.1 Framing adaptation for action

Thus far there has been little systematic analysis in the literature on how adaptation to climate change is mainstreamed and how adaptation is conceptualized in this regard. This might be due to the fact that many development agencies are still in a phase of piloting adaptation projects and developing tools for integrating adaptation to climate change into running operations.

In theory, there are four general ways in which adaptation to climate change is relevant to ODA and development projects in general: (1) the risks that climate change impacts pose to development projects, (2) vulnerability to current or future climate stimuli of the community or ecosystem that is intended to benefit from the project, (3) possible effects of an ODA project on the vulnerability of communities or ecosystems to climatic stimuli (compare Klein et al. 2007, 24), including maladaptation, and (4) the strategic and broader development context beyond a project itself related to the question of what the risks of and vulnerabilities to current and future climate stimuli in a country or region may be. The focus in the literature on adaptation in development policy is on the first two approaches.

Initially, the discourse on adaptation in development cooperation centered around the future risks of climate change impacts on development projects only. Adaptation was discussed as a kind of "retrofitting" of development planning to expected future climate change impacts, and it focused on technological solutions such as irrigation schemes or construction of higher dams. In this traditional view, mainstreaming adaptation would largely refer to "ensuring that projections of climate change are considered in the decision making of relevant government departments and agencies, so that technologies are chosen that are suitable to the future climate" (Klein et al. 2007, 26). This would refer to the impact-oriented approach to adaptation as outlined, for example, by the IPCC guidelines of 1994 and as described above in Chapter four. This approach does not centre on the links between poverty and adaptive capacity.

Most of the tools that have been developed seem keyed to this approach and focus on climate change impacts and risks (Klein et al. 2007, 39). Thus far, however, no in-depth review has appeared. One example of the impact-oriented tool is the project screening tool ADAPT (Assessment and Design for Adaptation to Climate Change: A Prototype Tool) developed by the World Bank. It helps the project developer identify climate risks of a project and find sources of information on how to minimize that risk.

The impact-oriented approach to adaptation has been questioned by developing countries. The main reason is on the one hand uncertainty and lack of knowledge about regional or local impacts of climate change and on the other hand financial constraints. "Particularly for poor countries, allocating scarce resources to short-term development needs – poverty alleviation, primary health care, and combating disasters, food and housing scarcities and the like – leaves little, if any, funding for measures to anticipate the impact of uncertain

*future climate change such as those described on the basis of* [...] *scenarios*" (Apuuli et al. 2000, 146). This is also reflected in the initial national climate action plans for the UNFCCC from developing and transition countries. They emphasize strategies for adaptation measures relevant to immediate national development priorities (Apuuli et al. 2000, 146). A survey by the United Nations Development Programme revealed that soft adaptation measures are a top priority of governments and development agencies (UNDP 2007, 5).

This perspective is also embraced by the screening tool CRISTAL (Community Risk Screening tool – Adaptation and Livelihoods), which was developed by a consortium of NGOs and applies a sustainable livelihoods framework. This tool focuses on the vulnerability of a community to climate stimuli and the impacts a development project may have on it. It seeks to understand the links between local livelihoods and climate, to assess a project's impact on community-level adaptive capacity and, finally, to improve the project's contribution to adaptive capacity (Klein et al. 2007, 39). Livelihoods refer to the capabilities, material and social assets and activities required for a means of living (Eriksen / Naess 2003, 14).

As indicated by a review of 135 activities in developing countries that were labelled as such by project developers or researchers, this development-oriented perspective dominates the majority of adaptation projects on the ground and only a limited number of projects focus exclusively on addressing impacts associated with climate change (McGray 2007, 21; see also Mitchell / Tanner 2006a, 11). The authors of that study note that adaptation projects hardly differ from normal development projects and that "the majority of cases utilize methods and approaches that come straight from the development toolbox" (McGray et al. 2007, 14). Some projects mainly address vulnerability drivers and focus on human development in general (e. g. livelihood diversification, literacy promotion), many projects focus on building response capacity by developing problem-solving systems. In addressing, more specifically, climate risks resulting from climate variability, many pro-



jects apply the concept of climate risk management (CRM). It refers to the process of incorporating climate information into decisions to reduce negative effects on resources and livelihoods (McGray 2007, 21 based on Hellmuth 2007). The main conceptual difference of these projects is the proportion they are considering climate stimuli with whether referring to current climatic conditions or changes in the medium or long-term (see also Figure 2). The vulnerability-based approach emphasizes current climate variability and non-climatic stressors, whereas the impact-based approach focuses on expected climatic changes and subsequent impacts on water availability, food production etc.

The corresponding strategic entry points used to address adaptation in the projects reviewed, risk management and capacity building, were also identified as strategic entry points for adaptation for Norad, Norwegian development co-operation, as illustrated by Figure 2. The livelihood framework has been proposed as a third strategic entry point for addressing vulnerability (Eriksen / Naess 2003, 14); it is also applied by the CRISTAL screening tool, as described above. The three proposed entry points for adaptation interface with three main areas of development co-operation: humanitarian aid, poverty reduction and economic development and, finally, natural resource management (see Fig. 3.; see Table 4 for project examples).



The project examples cited for the three entry points again illustrate the significant overlap of vulnerability-oriented adaptation and traditional development projects. This raises the question whether it is possible to differentiate between development activities in general and measures that aim at reducing vulnerability to climate change.

Table 4:Entry points for adaptation and examples					
Livelihoods	Local capacity and sensitivity	Risk management and early warning			
<ul> <li>economic opportunities for the poorest, including seasonal migration labour</li> <li>climate considerations in economic and infrastructural development</li> <li>access to and viability of, communal resources and biodiversity (including forest products)</li> <li>processing and marketing of local products</li> <li>health and education</li> <li>the role of local knowledge in economic development</li> <li>women's coping mechanisms, and the "informal" based mechanisms</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>integration between "traditional" and "modern" agricultural and pastoral technologies and management systems</li> <li>linkages between local "informal" institutions and authorities</li> <li>diversity of crops, agrobiodiversity</li> <li>integration of adaptation into government department activities</li> <li>land use planning and infrastructure planning</li> <li>seed and input distribution, in particular local seed varieties and inputs</li> <li>local research on crops, livestock and economic development that are adapted to the local climate</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>early warning systems</li> <li>local disaster response strategies (national and local institutions)</li> <li>natural resource management based protection (mangroves, water catchments)</li> <li>the space of local climate information as well as meteorological and climatological capacities of national institutions</li> <li>national adaptation plans and vulnerability assessments</li> <li>coastal defenses, urban drainage and water supply, hydroelectricity, flood defences</li> </ul>			
Source: Eriksen / Næss (2003, 16)					

#### 5.2 Differentiating development and adaptation

Poverty- and especially vulnerability-based adaptation share many determining factors, and it is likely that many measures that aim at adaptation simultaneously reduce poverty (e. g. Eriksen / Naess 2003, 14) and vice versa. Many authors, for example, point to the interlinkages between attaining the Millennium Development Goals and adaptation or adaptive capacity (Mitchell / Tanner 2006a, 8; Ziervogel / Taylor 2008, 34; Levina 2007, 25, Harmeling / Bals 2007, 9 ff.). However, the question to what extent, development and adaptation activities overlap in practice and can be seen as 'no-regret' strategies has not received much scholarly attention thus far. Not all development projects that aim at reducing poverty amount to vulnerability reduction (Adger et al. 2003; Eriksen / Kelly 2006; Eriksen / O'Brien 2007, 337). Widely cited examples include conversion of mangroves into shrimp farms, which typically render coastal areas more vulnerable to storm surges, or infrastructure projects in disaster-prone areas. There has been less discussion on possible adverse effects of adaptation measures on development and income in particular, especially considered on a short-term basis. This could, for example, be the case with a shift to climatically well-adapted crops in agriculture versus crops that yield higher prices in the market but are less adapted to climatic conditions and the natural resource base over the long term. A small shift in priority, in favor of either development or adaptation, can lead to very different impacts on the ground.

These brief examples illustrate that while there is a significant overlap between the concepts of adaptation and development, that they are not equivalent. From the UNFCCC funding perspective - where the parties are obliged to provide new and additional ODA funds (see Chapter 3.2) - the impossibility to clearly distinguish between adaptation and development constitutes an insurmountable barrier to proving the additionality criteria. In international climate politics, the concept of mainstreaming is therefore questioned by some developing country parties as they fear that this will lead to a diversion of ODA resources for climate change measures mandated by the convention (Yamin 2005, 353).

#### 6 Institutional challenges in targeting adaptation

The previous chapters have shown that the definition and conceptualization of adaptation remains rather broad, a fact that has led some scientists to refer to as it a "wicked problem" (see Box 2). There are several possible entry points for addressing adaptation in practice and in institution building. Nevertheless, some core characteristics of adaptation are emerging from the process of framing and reframing of the three above-analysed discourses which need to be considered in an institutional response to climate change and which imply several challenges.

#### Box 2: Adaptation as a "wicked problem"

O'Brien et al. compare the challenge of adaptation to globalization or political instability and describe adaptation as a "wicked problem", "where answers are incomplete, contradictory and set against changing requirements". The "wicked problem" is described by the following characteristics:

- 1. "There is no definite formulation of the problem.
- 2. There is no exit strategy from the problem.
- 3. Answers are not true or false, but better or worse.
- 4. There is no immediate solution and no ultimate test of a solution.
- 5. Any intervention in a wicked problem counts significantly because there is no opportunity to learn by trial and error.
- 6. Wicked problems do not have a well-defined set of potential solutions.
- 7. Every wicked problem is unique.
- 8. Every wicked problem is a symptom of another wicked problem.
- 9. The logic of explanation of a wicked problem determines the solution.
- 10. Planners must be liable for the actions they generate in responding to a wicked problem."

Source: O'Brien et al. (2008, 198, citing Richey 2007)

There is no concept-inherent, pre-given definition of a problem, and hence a solution, of adaptation. This implies that the challenge for adaptation planning and addressing it in institutions lies in the definition of the problem itself, in narrowing it down to what adaptation means in a specific context. This refers to the definition of the question of a) adaptation to what (climate-stimuli), b) who or what adapts (system) and c) how does adaptation occur (attributes, forms, types; see also Figure 1). But it also refers to the definition of the space and time dimension with regard to both the climate-related stimuli and the system. From an institutional perspective, the spatial scale is important as the spatial impact of a climate-related stimuli may not coincide with the spatial scale of the institutional influence or governance structure, as is the case for cross-border phenomena, for example.



Thus far, the time dimension has not received sufficient attention in either science or policy development. For the implementation of adaptation measures, however, this question is crucial and at the same time extremely challenging. To what time scale of climatic trends should adaptation measures respond, and under what time frame can they be considered as climate change adaptation measures? Answering these questions requires a balanced decision between short- and long-term needs that arise from both a development and a climate change perspective. This decision has to be made with regard to the climaterelated information available as well as with regard to planning structures for development activities, for example. The time dimension is also important for the monitoring and evaluation of adaptation measures, a new field of research.

Two further characteristics emerge from the debate that can be considered concept-inherent to adaptation, the "definition challenge" and the uncertainty challenge. Since one of the main challenges in addressing adaptation lies in the definition of the meaning and scope of adaptation itself, the question of "who defines, how and why?" is an important parameter in targeting adaptation. What are the criteria, information and processes on which a decision is based? Targeted action is rendered more complicated by the question of who is vulnerable. If within a country some people are affected by drought and others by floods, what is more important? It is not possible to prioritize adaptation activities on the basis of indicators of vulnerability alone. Using a cost-benefit analysis of adaptation as the basis for decision making also presupposes that the criteria and values used for the analysis are shared within a society. This raises the question of what decision criteria (e.g. cost efficiency or values) and process and power-related questions (e.g. bottom up vs. top-down, central vs. decentralized) adaptation measures should be based on. As there are no common, "objective" criteria of what "good" or "bad" adaptation to climate change is, the decision criteria for adaptation measures need to be embedded in a social and societal context. The "definition challenge" and the fact that there is no such common problem

definition and solution to adaptation highlights the need to generate context-specific analysis and information that can feed into the decision process, and this in itself is a pre-requisite for adaptation decisions.

The question of who defines on the basis of what processes and criteria is also critical due to the fact that decisions on adaptation to climate change are inevitably linked to uncertainty. Uncertainty is a dominant feature of adaptation in a twofold way. On the one hand, impacts of climate change are uncertain and there will be no definite information on what to adapt to. On the other hand, there is a degree of uncertainty with regard to the determinants of vulnerability and there is no guarantee that certain measures will lead to reduced vulnerability or enhanced adaptive capacity. Both aspects of uncertainty imply the risk of maladaptation or maladaptedness. As regards institution building, this raises the question of how to address the question of responsibility or even liability (or "risk management" in a broad sense) if adaptation fails.

The "definition challenge" as well as the challenges emerging from the characteristic of uncertainty highlight the need for a socially embedded, representative frame of adaptation in institution building. For building an institutional framework across scale, this suggests that the subsidiarity principle should be applied. The respective adaptation frame for building institutions should be as concise as possible and as broad as necessary to allow for consideration of risk perception, problems or needs definition by lower governance entities. There seems to be agreement that the climate-related stimuli that need to be defined for an institutional action frame can be understood as a continuum extending from



vulnerability to impact-oriented approaches that allow for different entry points for action. This decision is influenced by the overall priority of the institution (compare Figure 5), as is the case in the UNFCCC for example.

#### 7 Conclusions

The analysis has shown that the important influencing factors for framing adaptation include scientific knowledge about the impacts of climate change, risk perception and practical needs with regard to implementation. Throughout the 1990s, climate change was perceived primarily as a question of climate protection, and the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions was the main problem to be solved on both the political and scientific agenda. Climate change and the related question of adaptation were mainly seen as an environmental issue and a climate protection issue. This heavily influenced methodological and practical approaches to adaptation, which were defined from an impact-oriented perspective. Solutions for adaptation were seen rather as technical in nature and as a response to a change in climate which was expected to take place in the future. The strategies derived for adaptation focused on improving knowledge about the magnitude and expected impacts of climate change. The impact-oriented approach had a major effect on the adaptation framework under the UNFCCC.

The need and priority for developing countries to start out on action from current vulnerability as well as scientific advances in the understanding of climate change impacts has led to a shift in the framing of adaptation. Adaptation to climate change, but also mitigation of climate change, is increasingly perceived as a development issue. The Marrakech Accords of 2001 and the publication of the third IPCC report can be regarded as the main turning point for a broadening of the conceptual understanding of adaptation at the global level.

The concept of adaptation, as framed in the three main fora analyzed, remains broad and vague. Nevertheless, there are important core characteristics of adaptation that emerge from the process of framing and reframing and can be considered concept-inherent and need to be given consideration in institution building (see Chapter 6). What are the implications of these core characteristics for the adaptation framework under the UNFCCC? Several aspects should be considered:

#### Reframing climate change – differentiating between adaptation and development

While the Bali Action Plan embraces both the impact- and the vulnerability-based approach to adaptation, it remains to be seen to what extent this will finally be reflected in the institutional arrangement under the follow-up agreement, especially the funding mechanisms. One of the main challenges is the implied difficulty of differentiating between general development activities and adaptation to climate change. The vulnerability-based approach stands, to a certain extent, in contradiction to the catalytic function in problem solving at the global level due to its significant overlap with general development. The impact-oriented approach, however, contradicts the conceptual basis of adequate adaptation and adaptation needs adopted by many developing countries. Furthermore, there seem to be contradictions in the political arguments advanced. Industrialized and donor countries call for a mainstreaming approach - which poses a challenge for

proving additionality of funds - but at the same time, they may not be willing to agree on extra funding for development measures not closely related to climate change. Many developing countries stress the need to differentiate between general development needs and needs related to climate change vulnerability in order to highlight the need for additional funds. At the same time, however, they are in favour of a vulnerability approach that includes current climate variability when it comes to funding.

The possibility of addressing adaptation from a perspective of vulnerability to current climate variability has been stressed by scientists as an important entry point for adaptation to long-term climate change. Due to the close interlinkage between adaptation and development, some scholars have even questioned the appropriateness of the UNFCCC as an adequate policy framework, pointing to the need for policy coherence and institutional coordination across a wide range of multilateral agreements (e. g. Schipper 2006). The question of task sharing for adaptation at the global level - and the concrete shape it might be given - is an open one.

In view of the impact- as well as the vulnerability-based approach, the concept of adaptation in the future adaptation framework also relates to a reframing of "anthropogenic climate change" and the meaning of "effects" to be addressed under the convention. In the 1990s, the question of what could be considered "the anthropogenic share" of climate change was decisive for framing adaptation, and especially funding. The GEF's incremental cost criteria point to the methodological and practical difficulties this implies in trying to come to a concrete definition and basis for funding. The question now is to what extent current climate variability can be regarded as part of anthropogenic climate change.

This adds even further complexity to the discussion. In this respect, it seems rather unlikely that agreement will be reached on a clear definition of adaptation at the global level as well as on what, accordingly, can be considered as additional costs of adaptation or as additional funding for adaptation. One exit strategy could be to define the additionality of funds according to the source of funding, whether, for example, this funding comes from new financing mechanisms such as a levy or auctioning.

#### Reconsider the conceptual adaptation frame of funding mechanisms

The convention text conceptualizes adaptation in response to anthropogenic climate change. This is reflected by the institutional provisions under the convention and funding under the GEF Trust Fund. The need to demonstrate incremental costs and generate global benefits has proved to be an obstacle in accessing funds and meeting developing countries' needs and should therefore no longer serve as a funding criteria for adaptation projects. As it is difficult to differentiate between development-oriented measures and extra costs due to activities taking place under a climate change scenario, the 'additional cost' principle of the LDCF and SCCF should also be reconsidered based on current funding experience.

Due to the "definition challenge", the question of who defines what adaptation means on the basis of what processes and criteria, future funding mechanisms should adopt a process-oriented and country-driven understanding of adaptation as in the case of the Adaptation Fund, for example. It leaves the definition of the scope and meaning of adaptation measures to the country level. Funding criteria should embrace an impact- as well as a vulnerability-based approach to adaptation. The governance structure of an adaptation funding mechanism under the UNFCCC needs to have a representative approach.

#### Process orientation and country-drivenness

Since it is not possible to define adaptation at the global level, a future framework on adaptation should not mandate any particular adaptation policies. Instead, it should retain the procedural approach and commitment to adaptation. Such an approach would permit the establishment of country-driven processes for the identification and implementation of adaptation along the lines of the core characteristics of adaptation.

#### Strengthen the generation of context-specific information and analysis

The implementation of adaptation measures is based on the definition of the meaning and scope of adaptation in a specific context. The generation of context-specific information and analysis therefore needs to be strengthened. The UNFCCC currently provides a platform for the exchange of knowledge and experience through the Nairobi Work Programme, which, though, is set to end in 2010. The UNFCCC should therefore reconsider how best to facilitate and support the generation of context-specific information and (scientific/political) analysis. Regional centres and networks on adaptation, which have been proposed in negotiations (e. g. decision 5/CP.7, FCCC/CP2001/13/Add.1), could be a step in this direction.

#### Address uncertainty and responsibility

Uncertainty in responding to the effects of climate change and related questions of responsibility for the case that adaptation should fail are currently not being addressed sufficiently at the global level. To reduce the risks of climate change impacts and the adaptation burden, the future adaptation framework therefore also needs an ambitious framework for mitigation as a means of attacking the root cause.

#### Bibliography

- Aaheim, A. / M. Aasen (2008): What do we know about the economics of adaptation?, Brussels: Centre for European Policy Studies (Policy Brief 159)
- *Adams, J. / M. Thompson* (2002): Taking account of societal concerns about risk: framing the problem, Bergen: University of Bergen (Research Report 35); online: http://www.hse.gov.uk/research/rrpdf/rr035.pdf
- Adaptation Fund Board (2008a): Monetization of certified emission reductions for the Adaptation Fund (prepared by invited trustee): Adaptation Fund Board Second Meeting, Bonn, June 16–19, 2008 (AFB/B.2/9)
- (2008b): Draft role and responsibilities of the Adaptation Fund Board: Adaptation Fund Board Second Meeting, Bonn, June 16–19, 2008 (AFB/B.2/3)
- (2008c): Draft rules of procedure of the Adaptation Fund Board Meetings: Adaptation Fund Board Second Meeting, Bonn, June 16–19, 2008 (AFB/B.2/4)
- ADB (Asian Development Bank) (2005): Climate proofing: a risk-based approach to adaptation; online: http://www.abd.org/Documents/ Reports/Climate-Proofing/climate-proofing.pdf (accessed 20 Aug. 2008)
- Adger, W. N. (2001): Scales of governance and environmental justice for adaptation and mitigation of climate change, in: Journal of International Development 13 (7), 921–931
- (2003): Adaptation to climate change in the developing word, in: Progress in Development Studies 3 (3), 179–195
- Adger, W. N. / K. Vincent (2005): Uncertainty in adaptive capacity, in: C. R. Geoscience 377, 399-410
- *Adger, W. N. / K. Brown / E. Tompkins* (2004): Why do resource managers make links to stakeholders at other scales?, Norwich: Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research (Working Paper 65)
- Adger, W. N. / W. A. Nigel / E. L. Tompkins (2005): Successful adaptation to climate change across scales, in: Global Environmental Change 15 (2), 77–86
- Adger, W. N. et al. (2001): Advancing a political ecology of global environmental discourses, in: Development and Change 32 (4), 681–715
- (2007): Assessment of adaptation practices, options, constraints and capacity, in: M. Parry et al. (ed.), Climate change 2007: impacts, adaptation and vulnerability, contribution of working group II to the fourth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 717–743
- AfDB (African Development Bank) et al. (2003): Poverty and climate change: reducing vulnerability of the poor through adaptation, Interagency report: AfDB (African Development Bank), ADB (Asian Development Bank), DFID (Department for International Development), BMZ (Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development, Germany), DGIS, (Ministry of Foreign Affairs Development Cooperation, The Netherlands), OECD (Organisation for economic co-operation and Development), UNDP (United Nations Development Programme), UNEP (United Nations Environment Programme), World Bank
- *Agrawala, S.* (ed.) (2005): Bridge over troubled water: Linking climate change and development, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
- Agrawala, S. et al. (2003a): Development and climate change in Tanzania: Focus on Mount Kilimanjaro, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC (2003)5/FINAL)
- (2003b): Development and climate change in Bangladesh: Focus on coastal flooding and the Sundarbans, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC (2003)3/ FINAL)
- (2003c): Development and climate change in Fiji: Focus on coastal mangroves, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC(2003)4/FINAL)
- (2003d): Development and climate change in Nepal: Focus on water resources and hydropower, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC (2003)1 /FINAL)

- (2004a): Development and climate change in Egypt: Focus on coastal resources and the Nile, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC(2004)1/FINAL)
- (2004b): Development and climate change in Uruguay: Focus on coastal zones, agriculture and forestry, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC (2004)2/FINAL)
- (2008): Empirical estimates of adaptation costs and benefits: a critical assessment, in: S. Agrawala / S. Fankhauser (ed.), Economic aspects of adaptation to climate change: costs, benefits and policy instruments, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 29–84
- *Apuuli, B. et al.* (2000): Reconciling national and global priorities in adaptation to climate change: with an illustration from Uganda, in: *Environmental monitoring and assessment* 61 (1), 145–159
- Barnett, J. / S. Dessai (2002): Articles 4.8 and 4.9 of the UNFCCC: adverse effects and the impacts of response measures, in: Climate Policy 2 (2–3), 231–239
- Bauhr, M. (2000): Climate change and international political co-ordination: can information have a global effect?, 8th Biennial international conference for the study of common property, Bloomington, Indiana, 31 May–4 June 2000
- Benioff, R. / S. Guill / J. Lee (ed.) (1996): Vulnerability and adaptation assessments: an international guidebook, U.S. Country Studies Program, Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers
- Bodansky, D. (1993): The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change: a commentary, in: Yale Journal of International Law 18 (2), 451–558
- *Brooks, N.* (2003): Vulnerability, risk and adaptation: a conceptual framework, Norwich: Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research (Working Paper 38)
- Burton, I. (1994): Deconstructing adaptation and reconstructing, in: Delta 5 (1), 14-15
- (1997): Vulnerability and adaptive response in the context of climate and climate change, in: *Climatic Change* 36 (1–2), 185–196
- Burton, I. / M. van Aalst (1999): Come Hell or High Water integrating climate change vulnerability and adaptation into Bank Work, Washington, DC: The World Bank (Environment Department Papers, Climate Change Series 72)
- Burton, I. et al. (2005): Adaptation policy frameworks for climate change: developing strategies, policies and measures, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- *Callaway, J.* (2003): Adaptation benefits and costs measurement and policy issues: OECD, ENV/EPOC/ GSP 10/Final, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (unclassified paper)
- *Carr, S. / R. Mpande* (1996): Does the definition of the issue matter? NGO influence and the international convention to combat desertification in Africa, in: *Journal of Commonwealth and Comparative Politics* 34 (1), 143–165
- *Carter, T. R.* (1996): Assessing climate change adaptations: The IPCC guidelines, in: J. Smith et al. (eds.), Adapting to climate change: an international perspective, New York u. a.: Springer
- *Carter, T. R. et al.* (1992): Preliminary guidelines for assessing impacts of climate change; online: http://www-cger.nies.go.jp/publication/I015/972381-1.pdf
- *Carter, T. R. et al.* (eds.) (1994): IPCC technical guidelines for assessing climate change impacts and adaptations, London: University College London, Department of geography
- *Carter, T. R. et al.* (2007): New assessment methods and the characterisation of future conditions, in: IPCC (2007), Climate Change 2007 Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability: Contribution of Working Group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC, Cambridge u. a.: Cambridge University Press, 133-172
- Cohen, S. et al. (1998): Climate change and sustainable development: towards dialogue, in: Global Environmental Change 8 (4), 341-371
- *Eriksen, S. / L. O. Næss* (2003): Pro-poor climate adaptation: Norwegian development cooperation and climate change adaptation: an assessment of issues, strategies and potential entry points, Oslo: Centre for International Climate and Environmental Research (Report 2)
- *Eriksen, S. / K. O'Brien* (2007): Vulnerability, poverty and the need for sustainable adaptation measures, in: *Climate Policy* 7 (4), 337–352

- *Eriksen, S. et al.* (2007): Climate change adaptation and poverty reduction: key interactions and critical measures: report prepared for the Norwegian agency for development cooperation (Norad) (GECHS/ Report 1/2007), Oslo: Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation (Norad)
- *Fankhauser, S.* (1996): The potential costs of climate change adaptation, in: J. B. Smith et al., Adapting to climate change: an international perspective, New York u. a.: Springer
- (1998): The costs of adapting to climate change, Washington, DC: Global Environment Facility (Working Paper 16)
- *Feenstra, J. et al. (eds.)* (1998): Handbook on methods for climate change impact assessment and adaptation strategies, Amsterdam: Institute for environmental studies, Free University
- Flybjerg, B. (1998): Rationality and power: Democracy in practice. Chicago, Ill: University of Chicago Press
- Frankel-Reed, J. (2006): Adaptation through development: a review of bilateral development agency programmes, methods and projects, mimeo
- *Füssel, H.* (2007): Vulnerability: a generally applicable conceptual framework for climate change research, in: *Global Environmental Change* 17, 155-167
- Füssel, H. / R. Klein (2006): Climate Change vulnerability assessments: an evolution of conceptual thinking, in: Climatic Change 75 (3), 301–329
- *GEF* (*Global Environment Facility*) (1995): Operational strategy of the Global Environmental Facility; online: http://www.gefweb.org/Operational\_Policies/Operational\_Strategy/op\_stat/op\_stat.html
- (1996): Incemental costs, Februar 29, 1996 (GEF/C.7/Inf.5) Washington, DC
- (2004): GEF assistance to address adaptation. May 11, 2004 (GEF/C.23/Inf.8/Rev.1), Washington, DC
- (2006): Programming paper for funding the implementation of NAPAs under the LDC trust fund, May 12, 2006 (GEF/C.28/18), Washington, DC
- (2007): Notice of council approval of revised document "Programming to implement the guidance for the special climate change fund adopted by the conference of the parties to the United Nations framework convention on climate change at its twelfth session" and corresponding decision, LDCF.SCCF Council Meeting, November 16, 2007 (GEF/LDCF.SCCF.3/Inf.4), Washington, DC
- (2008a): Background and elements for a GEF monitoring and evaluation framework on adaptation: Lessons from GEF climate change adaptation projects: LDCF/SCCF Council Meeting April 25, 2008 (GEF/LDCF.SCCF.4/Inf.4), Washington, DC
- (2008b): Progress report on the Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF) and the Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF): LDCF/SCCF Council Meeting November 13, 2008 (GEF/LDCF.SCCF.5/Inf.3, October 21, 2008), Washington, DC
- (2008c): Progress report on the Least Developed Countries Fund (LDCF) and the Special Climate Change Fund (SCCF): LDCF/SCCF Council Meeting, April 25, 2008 (GEF/LDCF.SCCF.4/Inf.3, March 20, 2008), Washington, DC
- (2008d): Report on the completion of the strategic priority on adaptation: GEF Council November 11–13, 2008 (GEF/C.34/8, October 9 2008), Washington, DC
- *Gigli, S. / S. Agrawala* (2007): Stocktaking of progress on integrating adaptation to climate change into development co-operation activities, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (COM/ENV/EPOC/DCD/DAC(2007)1/FINAL)
- Gray, B. (1996): Reviewed work(s): frame reflection, by D. A. Schön and M. Rein, New York: Basic Books, 1994, in: *The Academy of Management Review* 21 (2), 576–579
- *Gupta, J.* (2007): Legal steps outside the climate convention: litigation as a tool to address climate change, in: *Review of European Community and International Environmental Law RECIEL* 16 (1), 76–77
- Harmeling, S. / C. Bals (2007): Die Millenium-Entwicklungsziele und der globale Klimawandel (Kurzfassung), Bonn: Germanwatch
- *Huq, S. et al.* (2003): Mainstreaming adaptation to climate change in least developed countries (LDCs), London: International Institute for Environment and Development
- Huq, S. / M. Grubb (2003). Scientific assessment of the interrelationship of mitigation and adaptation: Scoping paper for IPCC Fourth Assessment Report 2003, Geneva: Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change

- IDA (International Development Association) (2007): IDA and climate change: making climate action work for development, Washington, DC
- *IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change)* (2001a): Climate change 2001 the scientific basis: summary for policymakers: a report of working group I of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge u .a.: Cambridge University Press
- (2001b): Climate change 2001 impacts, adaptation, and vulnerability: summary for policymakers, a report of working Group II of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge u. a.: Cambridge University Press
- (2007): Climate Change 2007 impacts, adaptation and vulnerability: contribution of working group II to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC, Cambridge u.a.: Cambridge University Press
- Jordan, A. / J. Werksman (1994): Additional funds, incremental costs and the global environment, in: Review of European Community & International Environmental Law 3 (2-3), 81-87
- Kates, R. (1997): Climate change 1995: Impacts, adaptations and mitigation, in: Environment 39 (9), 29-33
- Kates, R. / J. Ausubel / M. Berberian (eds.) (1985): Climate impact assessment: studies of the interaction of climate and society, Chichester, UK: John Wiley and Sons (Scientific Committee on Problems of the Environment, Report 27)
- *Kelly, P. / W. Adger* (2000): Theory and practice in assessing vulnerability to climate change and facilitating adaptation, in: *Climatic Change* 47 (4), 325–352
- Klein, R. (1998): Towards better understanding, assessment and funding of climate adaptation, in: Change 44, 15–19
- (2001): Adaptation to climate change in German official development assistance an inventory of activities and opportunities, with a special focus on Africa, Eschborn: Deutsche Gesellschaft f
  ür Technische Zusammenarbeit
- (2002): Climate change, adaptive capacity and sustainable development, expert meeting on adaptation to climate change and sustainable development, 13–14 March 2008, Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
- (2003): Adaptation to climate variability and change: what is optimal and appropriate?, in: C. Giupponi / M. Schechter (eds.), Climate change in the mediterranean, Cheltenham: Elgar, 32–50
- (2008): Mainstreaming climate adaptation into development: Briefing note for the European Parliament temporary committee on climate change, Stockholm: Stockholm Environment Institute
- Klein, R. et al. (2007): Portfolio screening to support the mainstreaming of adaptation to climate change into development assistance, in: *Climatic Change* 84 (1), 23–44
- Klein, R. / D. MacIver (1999): Adaptation to climate variability and change, in: Mitigation and adaptation strategies for global change 4 (3-4), 189-198
- *Klein, R. / A. Möhner* (2008): Governance limits to effective global financial support for adaptation to climate change: paper presented at: Living with climate change: are there limits for adaptation?, Royal geographical society, London, UK, 7–8 February 2008
- *Klein, R. J. T. / R. S. J. Tol* (1997): Adaptation to climate change: options and technologies an overview paper, Bonn: United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change secretariat (FCCC/TP/1997/3)
- *Kuch, P. J. / S. Gigli* (2007): Economic approaches to climate change adaptations and their role in project prioritisation and appraisal, Eschborn: Deutsche Gesellschaft für Technische Zusammenarbeit
- LDC Expert Group (2002): Annotated guidelines for the preparation of national adaptation programmes of action; online: http://unfccc.int/files/cooperation\_and\_support/ldc/application/pdf/annguide.pdf
- *Leary, N. A.* (1999): A framework for benefit-cost analysis of adaptation to climate change and climate variability, in: *Mitigation and adaptation strategies for global change* 4 (3-4), 307-318
- Levina, E. (2007): Adaptation to climate change: international agreements for local needs, Paris: Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development / International Energy Agency (COM/ENV/EPOC /IEA/SLT(2007)6)
- Lindseth, G. (2005): Local level adaptation to climate change: discursive strategies in the Norwegian context, in: Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning 7 (1), 61-83

- *Mace, M. J.* (2003): Adaptation under the UN framework convention on climate change: the legal framework: paper presented at 'Justice in adaptation to climate change', Zuckerman institute for connective environmental research, Norwich, University of East Anglia, 7.–9. Sep. 2003
- (2005): Funding for adaptation to climate change: UNFCCC and GEF developments since COP-7, in: Review of European Community and International Environmental Law RECIEL 14 (3), 225–246
- (2006): Adaptation under the UN Framework Convention on climate change: the international legal framework, in: Adger, W. N. et al. (ed.), Fairness in adaptation to climate change, Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press, 53–76
- (2008): Key adaptation issues: For the 13th Conference of the Parties to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (COP 13) and the 3rd Meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol, s. l.: World Wildlife Fund, Foundation for International Environmental Law and Development (WWF NON Paper – DRAFT).
- *McCarthy, J. et al.* (eds.) (2001): Contribution of the working group two to the third assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; online: http://www.ipcc.ch/ipccreports/tar/wg2/pdf/wg2TARfrontmatter.pdf
- *McGray, H. et al.* (2007): Weathering the storm: options for framing adaptation and development, Washington, DC: World Resources Institute
- *Mitchell, R. et al.* (2003): Information as influence: how institutions mediate the impact of scientific assessments on international environmental affairs, in: W. Clark et al. (eds.), Global environmental assessments: information, institutions, and influence, Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press
- Mitchell, T. / T. Tanner (2006a): Adapting to climate change: Challenges and opportunities for the development community, Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, Tearfund collaboration
- (2006b): Overcoming the barriers: mainstreaming climate change adaptation in developing countries, Brighton: Institute of Development Studies, Tearfund collaboration
- *Möhner, A. / R. J. T. Klein* (2007): The Global Environment Facility: funding for adaptation or adapting to funds?, Stockholm: Stockholm Environment Institute (Working Paper)
- *O'Brien, G. et al.* (2004): What's in a world? Conflicting interpretations of vulnerability in climate change research, Oslo: Centre for International Climate and Environmental Research (Working Paper 4)
- (2008): Climate adaptation from a poverty perspective, in: Climate Policy 8 (2), 194-201
- *OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development)* (2006): Declaration on integrating climate change adaptation into development co-operation: Adopted by development and environment ministers of OECD member countries on 4th April 2006, OECD headquarters, Paris
- (2008): Statement of progress on integrating climate change adaptation into development cooperation, adopted by the members of the Development Assistance Committee at the DAC high level meeting, Paris, 21 May 2008; online: http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/44/53/40909509.pdf
- *Ogunseitan, O. A.* (2003): Framing environmental change in Africa: cross-scale institutional constraints on progressing from rhetoric to action against vulnerability, in: *Global Environmental Change* 13 (2), 101–111
- Okonski, K. (ed.) (2003): Adapt or die: the science, policies and economies of climate change, London: Profile Books
- *Oppenheimer, M. / A. Petsonk* (2004): Global warming formulating long term goals, in: D. Michel (eds.), Climate policy for the 21st century: meeting the long term challenge of global warming: pre-publication version, Washington, DC: Centre for Transatlantic Studies
- *Pachauri, R. K.* (2004): Climate Change and its implications for development: The role of IPCC assessment, in: *IDS Bulletin* 35 (3), 11-14
- Parry, M. et al. (1998): Adapting to the inevitable, in: Nature 395 (6704), 741
- *Pielke, R. A.* (1998): Rethinking the role of adaptation in climate policy, in: *Global Environmental Change* 8 (2), 159-170
- Pilifosova, O. (2000): Where is adaptation going in the UNFCCC?, in: A. C. Vea-Leinert de la / R. J. Nicholls / R. S. J. Tol (eds.), Proceedings of SURVAS expert workshop on European vulnerability and adaptation to impacts of accelerated sea-level rise (ASLR), Hamburg 19-21 June 2000; online: http://www.survas.mdx.ac.uk/pdfs/2volwher.pdf

- *Putnam, L. / M. Holmer* (1992): Framing, reframing, and issue development, in: L. Putnam / M. E. Roloff (eds.), Communication and negotiation, Newbury Park, Calif.: Sage Publications, 128–155
- Richey, T. (2007): Wicked problems: structuring social messes with morphological analysis, Stockholm: Swedish Morphological Society; online: www.swemorph.com/pdf/wp.pdf
- *Robledo, C. et al.*, (2006). Understanding linkages between development cooperation in natural resource management and vulnerability to climate change and climate variability, Berne: Swiss Agency for Development and Cooperation
- Rotmans, J. / D. S. Rothman (eds.) (2003): Scaling issues in integrated assessments, Lisse, The Netherlands: Swets and Zeitlinger
- Sands, P. (1992): The United Nations framework convention on climate change, in: Review of European community and international environmental law RECIEL 1 (3), 270–277
- Schipper, L. (2004): Exploring adaptation to climate change: a development perspective, Norwich: University of East Anglia (thesis)
- (2006): Conceptual History of Adaptation in the UNFCCC Process, in: *Review of European community* and international environmental law RECIEL, 15 (1), 82-92
- Siebenhüner, B. (2003): The changing role of nation states in international environmental assessments—the case of the IPCC, in: *Global Environmental Change* 13, (2), 113–123
- Smit, B. et al. (1999): The science of adaptation: a framework for assessment, in: Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change 4 (3–4), 199–213
- (2000): An anatomy of adaptation to climate change and variability, in: Climatic Change 45 (1), 223–251.
- (2001): Adaptation to climate change in the context of sustainable development and equity, in: J. McCarthy et al. (eds.), Climate Change 2001: Impacts, adaptation and vulnerability, Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Smithers, J. / B. Smit (1997): Human adaptation to climatic variability and change, in: Global Environmental Change 7 (2), 129-146
- Stern, N. (2006): The economics of climate change: The Stern review; online: http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/stern\_review\_report.htm
- AF (The Adaptation Fund) (2008a): Draft role and responsibilities of the Adaptation Fund Board, Bonn (AFB/B.2/3)
- (2008b): Legal arrangement to be concluded between the Conference of the Parties serving as the meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol and World Bank as trustee for the Adaptation Fund, corrigendum, Bonn (AFB.B.2/CRP.2)
- UNDP (United Nations Development Programme) (2007): Climate change adaptation knowledge needs survey results; online:http://www.energyandenvironment.undp.org/undp/indexAction.cfm?module =Library&action=GetFile&DocumentAttachmentID=2357 (accessed 26 Aug. 2008)
- (s.a.): Least developed countries fund (LDC): guidelines; online: www.undp.org/gef/adaptation/funds/ 04c\_iii.htm (accessed 12 Aug. 2008)
- Verheyen, R. (2002): Adaptation to the impacts of anthropogenic climate change the international legal framework, in: *Review of European community and international environmental RECIEL* 11 (2), 129–143
- (2005): Climate change damage and international law prevention duties and state responsibility, Hamburg: Forschungsstelle Umweltrecht Universität Hamburg) (Developments in International Law 54)
- UNFCCC (United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change) (2008): Compendium on methods, and tools to evaluate impacts of, and vulnerability and adaptation to, climate change; online: http://unfccc.int/files/adaptation/nairobi\_workprogramme/compendium\_on\_methods\_tools/application/ pdf/20080307\_compendium\_m\_t\_complete.pdf (accessed 10 Oct. 2008)
- UN (United Nations) (1992): United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, New York, 9 May, 1992
- (1998): Kyoto Protocol to the UNFCCC, Kyoto, 11 December 1997
- Waller-Hunter, J. (2005): Executive director of UNFCCC, statement at 25th meeting of the GEF council, Washington, DC, 3-8 June 2005; online: http://www.gefweb.org/Documents/Council\_Documents/ GEF\_C25/Statement\_-UNFCCC.pdf

- *Warren, R. et al.* (2006): Spotlight impacts functions in integrated assessment research: report prepared for the Stern review on the economics of climate change, Norwich: Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research (Working Paper 91)
- *Watkiss, P. et al.* (2007): Climate change the cost of inaction and the cost of adaptation, Copenhagen: European Environment Agency (Technical Report 13)
- Wheaton, E. E. / D. C. MacIver (1999): A framework and key questions for adapting to climate variability and change, in: *Mitigation and Adaptation Strategies for Global Change* 4 (3-4), 215–225
- Wilbanks, T. J. (2002): Geographic scaling issues in integrated assessments of climate change, in: Integrated Assessment 3 (2-3), 100–114
- *Wilbanks, T. J. et al.* (2003): Possible responses to global climate change: integrating mitigation and adaptation, in: *Environment* 45 (5), 28–38
- *Yamin, F.* (2005): The European Union and future climate policy: is mainstreaming adaptation a distraction or part of the solution?, in: *Climate Policy* 5 (3), 349–361
- *Yamin, F. / J. Depledge* (2004): The international climate change regime: a guide of rules, institutions and procedure. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Young, O. R. (1991): Political leadership and regime formation: on the development of institutions in international society, in: International Organizations 45 (3), 281–308
- (1994): International governance: protecting the environment in a stateless society, New York: Cornell University Press
- (1998): The effectiveness of international environmental regimes: a mid-term report, in: International Environmental Affairs 10 (4), 267-289
- Ziervogel, G. / A. Taylor (2008): Feeling stressed: integrating climate adaptation with other priorities in South Africa, in: *Environment* 50 (2), 32–41

#### Publications of the German Development Institute

#### Nomos Verlagsgesellschaft

- Messner, Dirk / Imme Scholz (eds.): Zukunftsfragen der Entwicklungspolitik, 410 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2004, ISBN 3-8329-1005-0
- Neubert, Susanne / Waltina Scheumann / Annette van Edig, / Walter Huppert (eds.): Integriertes Wasserressourcen-Management (IWRM): Ein Konzept in die Praxis überführen, 314 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2004, ISBN 3-8329-1111-1
- Brandt, Hartmut / Uwe Otzen: Armutsorientierte landwirtschaftliche und ländliche Entwicklung, 342 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2004, ISBN 3-8329-0555-3
- *Liebig, Klaus*: Internationale Regulierung geistiger Eigentumsrechte und Wissenserwerb in Entwicklungsländern: Eine ökonomische Analyse, 233 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2007, ISBN 978-3-8329-2379-2 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 1)
- Schlumberger, Oliver: Autoritarismus in der arabischen Welt: Ursachen, Trends und internationale Demokratieförderung, 225 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2008, ISBN 978-3-8329-3114-8 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 2)
- *Qualmann, Regine*: South Africa's Reintegration into World and Regional Markets: Trade Liberalization and Emerging Patterns of Specialization in the Post-Apartheid Era, 206 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2008, ISBN 978-3-8329-2995-4 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 3)
- Loewe, Markus: Soziale Sicherung, informeller Sektor und das Potenzial von Kleinstversicherungen, 221 p., Nomos, Baden-Baden 2009, ISBN 978-3-8329-4017-1 (Entwicklungstheorie und Entwicklungspolitik 4)
- [Books may be ordered only through publishing house or bookshops.]

#### Book Series with Routledge

- Brandt, Hartmut / Uwe Otzen: Poverty Orientated Agricultural and Rural Development, 342 p., Routledge, London 2007, ISBN 978-0-415-36853-7 (Studies in Development and Society 12)
- [Books may be ordered only through publishing house or bookshops.]

#### Springer-Verlag

Scheumann, Waltina / Susanne Neubert / Martin Kipping (eds.): Water Politics and Development Cooperation: Local Power Plays and Global Governance, 416 p., Berlin 2008, ISBN 978-3-540-76706-0

#### Berichte und Gutachten

[Price: 9,63 Euro; books may be ordered directly from the DIE or through bookshops. This publications series was terminated and superseded by the new publications series "**Studies**", starting November 2004.]

#### Studies

- 43 *Altenburg, Tilman et al.*: Biodiesel in India: value chain organisation and policy options for rural development, 139 p., Bonn 2009, ISBN 978-3-88985-379-0
- 42 *Haldenwang, Christian von et al.:* Kommunale Steuerverwaltung im Kontext des peruanischen Dezentralisierungsprozesses: Das Modell der semi-autonomen Steueragenturen, 141 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-378-3
- 41 Richerzhagen, *Carmen et al.:* Energy Efficiency in Buildings in China: policies, barriers and opportunities, 121 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-377-6
- 40 *Lundsgaarde, Erik:* Building Long-Term Scenarios for Development: The Methodological State of the Art with an Application to Foreign Direct Investment in Africa, 107 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-376-9
- 39 Kosow, Hannah / Robert Gaβner: Methods of Future and Scenario Analysis: Overview, Assessment, and Selection Criteria, 120 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-375-2
- 38 *Klingebiel, Stephan et al.*: Donor Contribution to the Strengthening of the African Peace and Security Architecture, 124 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-373-8

[Price: 10,00 Euro; books may be ordered directly from the DIE or through bookshops.]

#### **Discussion Paper**

- 24/2008 *Sushko, Oleksandr:* The Impact of Russia on Governance Structures in Ukraine, 32 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-415-5
- 22/2008 *Liebig, Klaus / Jürgen Wiemann:* Personalentwicklungsbedarf in der nationalen und internationalen Entwicklungszusammenarbeit, 77 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-413-1
- 21/2008 *Liebig, Klaus / Gerhard Ressel / Ulrike Rondorf:* Dutch Disease: Ökonomische Prozesse und Implikationen für die Entwicklungszusammenarbeit, 28 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-411-7
- 20/2008 *Wiemann, Jürgen:* Neuausrichtung der Entwicklungspolitik der Bundesländer vor dem Hintergrund der veränderten internationalen Rahmenbedingungen, 55 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-408-7
- 19/2008 *Kästner, Antje:* From Chaos to Pragmatism? The Domestic Dimension of Russion Foreign Policy 1991–2008, 61 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-409-4
- 18/2008 *Pomerleano, Michael:* Developing Regional Financial Markets The Case of East Asia, 24 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-406-3
- 17/2008 *Stamm, Andreas:* Development Studies Development Research: Germany's Position in International Perspective, 50 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-410-0
- 16/2008: *Hampel-Milagrosa, Aimeé:* Gender Differentiated Impact of Investment Climate Reforms: A Critical Review of the Doing Business Report, 65 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-407-0
- 15/2008 *Müller-Kraenner, Sascha:* China's and India's Emerging Energy Foreign Policy, 19 p., Bonn 2008, ISBN 978-3-88985-405-6

[Price: 6,00 Euro; books may be ordered directly from the DIE or through bookshops.]

A complete list of publications available from DIE can be found at: http://www.die-gdi.de